Agenda
Contact Officer: Matthew Gaskin, Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 01235 422532
E-mail: matthew.gaskin@southandvale.gov.uk
Date: 24 July 2018
Website: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 1 AUGUST 2018 AT 6.30 PM
THE RIDGEWAY, THE BEACON, PORTWAY, WANTAGE, OX12 9BY
Members of the Committee:
Sandy Lovatt (Chairman)
Janet Shelley (ViceChairman)
Stuart Davenport
Robert Hall

Jenny Hannaby
Anthony Hayward
Bob Johnston

Ben Mabbett
Catherine Webber

Katie Finch
Chris Palmer
Helen Pighills

Julia Reynolds
Emily Smith
Reg Waite

Substitutes Councillors
Yvonne Constance
Margaret Crick
St John Dickson

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request. These include
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on this
agenda. Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

1

1.

Chairman's announcements

To receive any announcements from the chairman, and general housekeeping
matters.
2.

Apologies for absence

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.
3.

Declarations of interest

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on
the agenda for this meeting.
4.

Urgent business

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the
matters urgent.
5.

Public participation

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.

Planning applications
All the background papers, with the exception of those papers marked
exempt/confidential (e.g. within Enforcement Files) used in the following reports
within this agenda are held (normally electronically) in the application file (working
file) and referenced by its application number. These are available to view at the
Council Offices (135 Milton Park, Milton) during normal office hours.
Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be
reported and summarised at the meeting.

Summary index of applications

6.

Site Address

Proposal

Application No

Page.

P17/V1154/LB Steventon
Overbridge,
High Street,
Steventon

Demolition of listed railway overbridge
and provision of replacement bridge.

P17/V1154/LB

4 - 40

2

7.

P18/V0692/RM Steventon Road
Nurseries,
Steventon
Road, East
Hanney,
Wantage

Reserved matters application for the
erection of 40 dwellings including
appearance, landscaping, layout and
scale following the outline approval of
P16/V3226/FUL and variation of
P15/V0898/O.

P18/V0692/RM

41 - 55

8.

P18/V1179/CM North of the
A420 Botley
Road to south
of the A423 ring
road

A flood alleviation scheme to reduce
flood risk in Oxford.

P18/V1179/CM

56 - 73

9.

P18/V0113/FUL
- Land to the
East of Portway
Cottages,
Reading Road,
East Hendred,
Wantage

Variation of Condition 8 of
P15/V2560/FUL to remove the
requirement for bus stops and
associated works on the A417 and
replace the requirement for a Toucan
type pedestrian crossing to a Puffin
type crossing as per technical safety
audit from OCC Highways Authority.

P18/V0113/FUL

74 - 87

Proposed residential development of
46 dwellings.
10. P18/V0847/HH 36 Aldworth
Avenue,
Wantage

Proposed first floor side extension.

P18/V0847/HH

88 - 95

11. P18/V1049/HH Corbiere,
Springfield
Road, Wantage

First floor extension to existing
bungalow. Single storey extension to
the front and rear. Remodelling of
floor area. Demolish existing garage
and conservatory areas.

P18/V1049/HH

96 - 106

MARGARET REED
Head of Legal and Democratic

3

Agenda Item 6
Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

APPLICATION NO.
SITE
PARISH
PROPOSAL

WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
OFFICER

P17/V1154/LB
Steventon Overbridge, High Street, Steventon,
Abingdon, OX13 6RS
Steventon
Demolition of listed railway overbridge and
provision of replacement bridge.
As amended by plans received on 10 August
2017 (as per additional information received 19
September 2017 and OCC Letter received 1
March 2018). Additional options review from
PBA received 16 March 2018.
Matthew Barber
Network Rail
Charlotte Brewerton

RECOMMENDATION
Listed building consent for demolition of the Grade II listed overbridge at
Steventon subject to the following conditions:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Commencement 3 years - listed building consent
Approved plans.
Sample materials (walls - panel).
Historic records.

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL

1.2

This application was deferred at planning committee on 9 May 2018 for the
following reasons:
1) To seek clarification on flooding issues surrounding Steventon
Overbridge with a partial and full track lower under the bridge
2) To seek clarification on the use of bi-mode trains and speed restriction
issues.
3) To understand the impact of the 25 second delay and train capacity

1.3

Additional information has been submitted by Network Rail to clarify issues
asked for at the last committee. Their letter dated 5 June 2018 can be seen
attached at Appendix 1. The Environment Agency have also been consulted
on how likely flooding would be in this location.
These matters will therefore be addressed in this report with the original 9 May
committee report attached at Appendix 2. This report should be read in
conjunction with the previous committee report.

1.4

This application has been called to planning committee by Councillor Matthew
Barber. The application seeks listed building consent to demolish the Grade II
listed Steventon Overbridge.

Page 4

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

1.5

1.6

1.7

This application is for demolition of the listed bridge. Currently the bridge does
not have sufficient electrical and physical clearance to allow the safe use of
Overhead Line Electrification (OLE) equipment through the bridge. The low
clearance through the bridge is exasperated by the need for OLE contact wire
to have a minimum safety clearance of 5.8m through the adjacent Level
Crossing’s, at The Causeway and Stocks Lane, and to maintain a compliant
gradient to the contact wire.
There is a temporary solution currently in place along this part of the track to
allow electric passenger trains safely along the line by December 2018. NR
have advised that this temporary measure cannot be considered long term
due to the impact on the train pantograph clearance under Steventon Bridge.
Also the wire gradient between the bridge and Stocks Lane Level Crossing will
mean that electric trains are limited to 60mph.
Department for Transport (DfT), in their letter dated 9 July 2018, have advised
that ‘Bi-mode Intercity Express Trains (IET) will, on a temporary basis, operate
in slower diesel mode along this part of the track until a solution for the bridge
has been found.’

1.8

The railway passes through Steventon east to west dividing the village into
northern and southern parts. The bridge carries the High Street over the
railway providing access to the northern part of the village.

1.9

The primary routes to the southern half of the village are from the northern part
of the village utilising two level crossings, one on Stocks Lane and another on
The Causeway.

1.10

The southern part of the village includes residential areas and commercial
properties including a small business park and a farm located near to the
structure. These properties all rely on the level crossings for access. There is
an unmade track which is a designated BOAT (Byway Open to All Traffic) but
this is narrow with tight turns and not suitable for vehicular traffic (except 4x4’s
and farm vehicles).

Page 5

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

1.11

A site plan can be seen below:

2.0
2.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
The full summary of all consultations and representations is contained at
paragraph 5 of the original committee report at appendix 2. A full copy of all the
comments made can be seen online at www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk.
The following representations have been submitted since the publication of the
9 May Committee meeting:
Steventon Parish Council

Object
 These increased times of
between 4.4 and 9.1 seconds
are within the “noise” of
timetable scheduling i.e. have
no significant effect.
 Thus trains could run in diesel
mode through Steventon
without any impact on the
timetable. This obviates the
need to demolish Steventon
Railway bridge.

Drayton Parish Council

Object
 Given that alternative
technical solutions seem to be
ruled out, Drayton Parish
Council remains concerned

Page 6

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018




the bridge will be closed for a
minimum of 10 months.
The negative effects this will
have on traffic and local
businesses will be both
significant and prolonged.

Sutton Courtenay Parish Council

No further comments received

Environment Agency

No Objection – This is based on the
red line area around the bridge itself.
Email of 18 July 2018 - Further
discussions highlighted that any work
to the track would result in multiple
flood zones being affected with Flood
Zone 1, the highest probability of
flooding, around Stocks Lane Level
Crossing.

Historic England (South East)

No Objection
 did not object last time so I
think our advice can still stand.
Email of 18 July 2018 - In light of
additional comments submitted it is
up to LPA to make their
recommendation in line with
Para.132 and 133 of NPPF that
demolition is demonstrably justified in
order to achieve substantial public
benefits that outweigh the loss of the
heritage asset.
No Objection

Conservation Officer Vale








Page 7

As Conservation Officer I seek
to retain Steventon bridge
the practicality of retaining the
bridge without obliterating the
very character and
appearance of the bridge that
contributes towards its special
character and interest has not
been possible to achieve.
I wish to see the bridge
retained, but regrettably
accept the evidence put
forward by Network Rail,
that the retention of the bridge
is not viable if a fully

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

operational high speed link
constructed to the necessary
safety standards is to pass
through Steventon.
Oxfordshire County Council Single
Response
Wantage & Grove Campaign Group
Neighbour Approve
Neighbour Object (1)

No further comments received

Neighbour (2)

No Strong Views

No further comments received
No further comments received
Strongly object
 Flood risk area but IEP trains
are built to go through flood
water
 Solka report suggest minimal
track lower
 Wire gradients and
pantograph information
questioned
 Train capacity questioned
 NR re-present same
information that demolition
required for suffiecient bridge
clearance for OLE needed
under bridge and over
crossings
 Track has already been
lowered in 2015 and OLE
clearance found acceptable –
March Level Crossing
Assessment
 New Hitachi Class 800 IET’s
in operation with diesel power
and no reduction in
performance.
 HE do not use the word object
but case is clearly ‘unproven’
 Reconsider your
recommendation and refuse
current application



Page 8

significant local objection to
the application.
important that the district
council consider the
significance of this application
both locally and wider national
basis.

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018






3.0
3.1

A rejection of this application
could reduce the capacity of
the railway through Steventon
which is currently operating at
capacity.
Ultimately the council weighs
the public benefit of demolition
against the heritage interest,
it is important that a prompt
decision is made on this
application.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
P17/V1161/P18 – Still awaiting determination
Prior Approval for demolition of Steventon Overbridge and replacement bridge
as part of the Electrification of the GWRL.
P14/V2644/PEM - (12/03/2015)
Great Western electrification project, Steventon Overbridge.
P13/V1380/ES - Approved (27/09/2013)
Environmental Statement for the scheme of works to electrify the Great
Western Main Line Railway.

4.0

MAIN ISSUES

4.1

The main issues to consider are the updated information that has been
submitted to address the deferral reasons from the 9 May committee:




4.2

Flood risk issues surrounding a full and partial track lower
Use of bi-mode trains and time delay
Weight given to demolition of bridge versus its retention in accordance
with Paragraph 132 and 133 of the NPPF.

Flood Risk
The flood risk in this area is a key constraint that affects viability of the options
of a full or partial track lower in this location.
Having spoken with the Environment Agency (EA) Officers understand that the
bridge itself is located within Flood Zone 3 – the area with the lowest probability
of flooding. From this point up to Stock’s Lane Level Crossing there are a
number of flood zones along the track, leading to zone 1 – the highest level of
flooding. Stocks Lane Level Crossing is near to Ginge Brook, classed as a
major river. Any works to the track within 20m of this flood zone would require a
separate permit from EA.

4.3

Site investigations have been undertaken by Network Rail which includes trial
holes to determine the geology below the track bed and ground penetrating
radar to determine the depth of each sub layer. Officers understand that in
order for an acceptable gradient for the trains to run on 100m of track either

Page 9

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

side of the bridge has to be re-laid for every 100mm of lowering. This would
result in works up to and beyond Stocks Lane.
4.4

Full track lower
In order to achieve sufficient clearance at both crossings, Network Rail have
advised that the track lower at the bridge would need to be approximately
770mm. This would require approximately 800m of track and ballast to be
renewed both sides of the bridge along with the lowering of the Causeway,
which is Grade II* listed, and would include lowering a four-track section to the
east of the bridge.

4.5

In addition to these works it would include excavating approximately 1500mm
depth at the bridge to form a new track bed. NR have advised that a dig of this
depth would likely destabilise the toe cutting and so require significant earth
retaining structures to be installed around the bridge.

4.6

In discussion with the Conservation Officer these additional works to a bridge
that already has concrete bracings in the outer arches could undermine its
structural integrity. Footings and excavation works should be undertaken as far
as possible from a listed structure so as not to undermine it. Given that the
track is tight up to the bridge there is little space around in which to carry out
these works. The Conservation Officer has advised that excavating in such
close proximity to a listed structure could weaken its structural integrity
resulting in a high level of structural intervention that would undermine its
significance and affect its character and appearance that makes it worthy of its
listing status.

4.7

Paragraph 7.12 of my previous committee report considers the issues
surrounding a full track lower. Both the Solka report and the PBA report confirm
that this is unlikely to be a viable option in this location.

4.8

Partial Track Lower
In order to provide minimum overhead line clearances under the bridge NR
conclude that a track lower of 444mm is required. At this depth The Causeway
Level Crossing could remain open but it would require the closure of Stock
Lane Level Crossing to vehicles due to the height of the overhead wires.

4.9

NR have advised that a partial track lower would result in many of the same
issues associated with a full track lower. The extent of track rebuild would be a
minimum of 444m either side of the bridge and a total depth of excavation at
approximately 1.1m to form the track bed. Again, this would have implications
to the structural integrity of the bridge and track closures in order to carry out
the works.

4.10

The Closure of Stocks Lane level crossing would require upgrade and
modification of the BOAT. This would have traffic implications to the village of
Steventon and the local community for the long term. Whilst the PBA report
advised that this could be a viable option Officers believe in practical terms it
would cause a considerable upheaval to the track and train capacity

Page 10

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

inefficiencies in the short term and longer-term traffic implications to the village
of Steventon.
4.11

NR ascertain that track bed investigations in 2016 and 2017 conclude that a
track lower is not possible in Steventon and that options to lower the track over
the culvert are highly unlikely due to the reconstructed culvert being unable to
obtain a Flood Risk Activity Permit from the Environment Agency.

4.12

The Environment Agency have advised that whilst they have no objection to
the scheme based on its location within the red line area, located in Flood Zone
3, works to the track adjacent to Stocks Lane Level Crossing, in flood zones 1
& 2 would require an EA Permit so close to a major river such as Ginge Brook.
They have not assessed any technical notes or detailed assessments of track
lower works in this location.

4.13

The EA have not offered any assurances as to whether this would be granted
but given its location, probability of flooding and implications to the road
network required to secure any form of track lower Officers consider this to be
an unviable solution.

4.14

Officers consider that retrofitting a scheme around a bridge that is not the best
example of a Brunelian structure, further compromising its structural integrity,
increasing project funding and delaying the National scheme further, whilst
adding local traffic upheaval to residents of Steventon does not appear to be a
pragmatic approach. Therefore, on balance Officers weigh in favour of loss of
the bridge when considered against a technical solution such as full or partial
track lowering.

4.15

Train Capacity
NR have introduced the temporary measure to allow the OLE to progress
which requires reducing the speed of the trains to 60mph. They have however
advised that this would increase maintenance costs to the OLE and does not
ensure the running efficiency of the track therefore could not be a viable long
term solution.

4.16

Officers here refer to NR letter dated 5 June 2018, attached at Appendix 1, and
their explanation as to what the impact of the 25 second time delay would
mean. Whilst 25 seconds does not appear to be significant in the first instance
it could result in a timetabling delay of 2-3 minutes per train and this would then
have a significant impact on the timetable coming out from Paddington.

4.17

Furthermore, NR has responded that ‘bi-mode was not the goal of
electrification full term along the length of the track’. The proposal is for
demolition of the bridge to improve the running efficiency of the trains along the
GWML.

4.18

Officers accept that a bi-mode alternative does not improve functionality,
efficiency, timetabling of the GWML and could be to the detriment of the
benefits offered through the electrification programme.

Page 11

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

4.19

Weight given to demolition of bridge versus its retention in accordance
with Paragraph 132 and 133 of the NPPF.
Paragraph 132 of the NPPF and paragraph 133 of the Framework, states that:
Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to or total loss of
a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse consent,
unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or loss is necessary to
achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss, or all of the
following apply:
• The nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; and
• No viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term
• Through appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and
• Conservation by grant-funding or some form of charitable or public ownership
is demonstrably not possible; and
• The harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into
use.

4.20

Officers, in acknowledging what the NPPF states, weigh heavily in favour of the
substantial public benefits that demolition would lead to.

4.21

Not only would the demolition of the listed bridge allow for a purpose-built
bridge to be constructed, reducing the impact on flooding, level crossings
works, local highway network upheaval longer term and increased costs but it
would allow for the development of the railway line to be improved longer term
in line with the overall electrification programme.

4.22

Modernisation and upgrade was a key factor in shaping the railway in the 19 th
century as it is today in the 21st. The pace of technological advancements
continues to offer and allow for upgrading of our transportation network to
ensure that its functionality and capacity is at its best. This scheme has been
put forward to upgrade the railway network, its capacity, efficiency, functionality
to improve the service for all and to ‘future proof’ it for the longer term.

4.23

Richard Peats of Historic England, has throughout the course of this application
considered that the necessity for demolition has to be demonstrated in
accordance with Paragraph 132 of the NPPF and that demolition has to be
demonstrably necessary in order to achieve substantial public benefits as set
out in 133 of the NPPF. He is not objecting to this application.

4.24

Sally Stradling, Conservation Officer for Vale of White Horse has expressed
her desires to retain the bridge however notes that ‘the practicality of retaining
the bridge without obliterating the very character and appearance of the bridge
that contributes towards its special interest has not been possible to achieve’.
She notes that it is not the best example of its type and for this reason is also
not objecting to the proposal for demolition of a listed structure.

4.25

The Department for Transport have, in their letter dated 9 July 2018 written in
supporting the programme. To conclude they write ‘The modernisation of the
GWML is a nationally significant programme that will improve over 100million
train journeys each year, stimulate growth from London through the Thames

Page 12

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

Valley, to the Cotswolds, West Country and to South Wales. The Department
for Transport fully supports this application’.
4.26

Officers note that whilst there could be an alternative mode along this section
of track with the use of bi-mode trains, does this result wholeheartedly in
upgrading train efficiency, improving train timetabling in the long term to ensure
that nationally our railway network is as efficient as it could be?

4.27

In weighing up the balance, having looked at all options presented in detail,
Officers weigh heavily in favour of the substantial public benefits that the
demolition of the listed bridge will bring. All viable options appear to result in
considerable upheaval further along the track in Steventon, flooding issues,
lengthy delays, both to the trains and highways, and increased costs, whilst the
removal of the bridge would ensure that necessary improvements are being
made to the GWML as a whole.

4.28

It is regrettable that the scheme would involve closing of the highway over the
railway line for several months but this is for the short term and would not
present any further logistical problems once the new bridge is in situ.

4.29

The electrification project is a national scheme and one that should be
supported if we are to upgrade our transportation network and compete with
the demands of increased business and trade links with the rest of the country.

5.0
5.1

CONCLUSION

5.2

Having regards to Paragraph 132 of the NPPF, to give great weight to the
conservation of the bridge and section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, to have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the building or its setting, whilst there would be significant harm from
the loss of a historic asset, demolition is outweighed by the public benefits both
locally and nationally.

5.3

Demolition and the provision of a replacement structure allows important
modernisation to the railway network. Whilst officers are aware that in the short
term there would be significant traffic implications to Steventon and the wider
area, once the upgrading works are completed there will be no longer term
traffic implications to residents and the village of Steventon from its loss.

5.4

Given the location of the bridge within Flood Zone 1 and the probability of
flooding of the railway line, Officers consider that any lowering of the track would
cause severe implications to the running capacity of the track. This is not in the
national interest nor would it result in public benefits that the electrification
project is trying to achieve.

5.5

The closure of the levels crossings and a speed restriction on this part of the
line has been discounted due to the extremely disruptive impact it would have

Officers are mindful that loss of a heritage asset should not be considered lightly
and this weighing up the balance is important in ensuring historic fabric is not
unnecessarily lost.

Page 13

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

upon running capacity of a busy line. Furthermore, a speed restriction along this
part of the line would have implications to the maintenance of the OLE
equipment.
5.6

There would be no possibility of an alternative route to allow vehicles from this
part of Steventon to gain access to the wider surrounding area. The adjacent
BOAT is too narrow with any upgrading works needing to be considerable to
provide for a heavy flow of local traffic.

5.7

Officers therefore consider that having assessed all viable options, on balance
and regrettably, the justification for the total demolition of the bridge is
necessary to deliver the substantial public benefits that electrification of the
Great Western Main Line would bring. This is in accordance with Policies HE1,
HE4 and HE5 of the Vale of White Horse Saved Policies 2011 and Core Policies
Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 9 May 2018
37, 39 and 40 of the Adopted Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031.

POLICIES
9.1

The following planning policies have been taken into account:

9.2

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;
HE1- Preservation and enhancement- implications for development
HE4- Development within the setting of a listed building
HE5 - Development involving alterations to a listed building

9.3

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1
CP37- Design and Local Distinctiveness
CP39- The Historic Environment
CP40- Sustainable Design and Construction
Officer: Charlotte Brewerton
Tel no: 01235 422600
Email: charlotte.brewerton@southandvale.gov.uk

Page 14

Appendix 1

FAO. Vale of White Horse Planning Committee
C/O Charlotte Brewerton
Senior Planning Officer

Ian Wheaton
Town Planner
Temple Point, Redcliffe Way
Bristol
BS1 6NL
T 0771 330 2676
E ian.wheaton@networkrail.co.uk

05th June 2018
Dear Charlotte,

Listed Building Consent ref: P17/V1154/LB - Demolition of listed railway bridge, and
provision of replacement bridge.
We are writing in response to the request for further information in support of Planning
Application P17/V1154/LB - Steventon overbridge. This follows the consideration, and
subsequent deferral of the application, at the Vale of White Horse Planning Committee
meeting on Wednesday 9th May.
In what follows we provide, as requested, information pertaining to:





Flood risk;
Track lowering;
Train capacity - the impact of the 25 second delay; and
The temporary parapet amendments, and why this can’t be a permanent measure.

In preparing this letter, we have drawn from the various documents as submitted with the
original application, and also from the independent report (prepared by Peter Brett
Associates) commissioned by the Council to provide external professional analysis of the
application.
In response also to the report prepared by Solka on behalf of Steventon Parish Council, we
have enclosed a copy of our email sent to the Council and Historic England in response to
the report, and the queries raised. In the Planning Committee meeting, the query of track
lowering was raised in reference to the Solka report, and further comment is provided in this
letter.
Flood Risk
The flood risk in the area is one of the key constraints that affects the viability of all options at
this location.
As stated in the Vale of White Horse District Council Committee Report for this application,
the Environment Agency has recently changed their view that the “land surrounding the
railway has been upgraded from a Flood Zone 1 location, the lowest zone likely to flood, to a

Page 15

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, 2nd Floor, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk

Flood Zone 3 location, this being a functional floodplain”. Flood Zone 1 is an area least likely
to flood (either fluvial (rivers) or sea), whereas land that sits within a Flood Zone 3 is most
likely to flood.
In terms of flood risk assessments, the railway line, Steventon Road Bridge, and the level
crossings are within the area denoted as extreme flooding risk from rivers and seas. This is
illustrated in the Environment Agency flood map below.

Network Rail is aware of two important flood events in the last 10 years. The first was
following significant storms in Steventon village in July 2007. The second, more recently, was
in the winter of 2013/14. A number of roads and properties were affected including the area
around The Causeway, Stocks lane, Mill Street and a section of the High Street. The
photograph below gives an indication of the extent of the impact on the village.

The following extract from the independent PBA report, commissioned by VoWH Council
highlights the problem with Ginge Brook, which runs through Steventon Village and crosses
underneath the railway.
Mill Stream Culvert carrying the Ginge Brook (a main river) beneath the railway. The
VOWH Strategic Flood Risk Assessment states “The Ginge Brook and associated
drains flow through the centre of Steventon, and the existing village is at high risk of

Page 16

fluvial flooding. Flood grants were claimed by 62 properties in 2007 and there are 13
incidents in VOWH Flood Database, mainly associated with Ginge Brook”.
(http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/VOWH&SODC%20SFRA%20Final%20Re
port%20AppendicesReducedPart2.pdf)

It is understood that the culvert has limited fill over the top of it and minimal
freeboard between the soffit and the water level. Therefore, options to lower the
track over this culvert are unlikely to be viable as a reconstructed culvert is highly
unlikely to obtain a Flood Risk Activity Permit from the Environment Agency.
Site investigations have been conducted by Network Rail that further proves the case that
the risk of flood is real. These are not ‘desk top’ exercises and Network Rail rebukes the
claim that it has not carried out sufficient work on site to substantiate the claim that there is
an unacceptable risk of flooding posed by track lowering.
Track Bed Investigation Reports conducted in both June 2016 and September 2017
substantiate the claim that a track lower is not possible through Steventon. It should be noted
that Peter Brett Associates – at the request of Vale of White Horse – independently reviewed
these reports.
Local ground investigation conducted at Steventon High Street Bridge June 2016 includes:



Trial holes undertaken to determine the localised geology below the track bed.
Ground penetrating radar also utilised to determine depth of each sub layer.

Track-bed drainage was found to be poor throughout the site with wet material encountered
at a minimum depth of 550mm below rail on the Down Main and 380mm below rail on the
Down Steventon Goods Loop. Standing water was encountered on the Down Main at a
minimum depth of 900mm below rail and on the Down Steventon Goods Loop, at a minimum
depth of 380mm below rail. Investigations were undertaken on a dry day.
Whilst there is without a doubt a high risk of flooding in the area, we cannot consider the
potential for flooding in isolation; given the inextricable link with two of the discounted options
considered and rejected by Network Rail; namely a full or partial lowering of the railway track.
There is inevitably a link between lowering the track and managing water flow and drainage.
Track lowering would give rise to significant and unacceptable problems with drainage. This
is covered further below.
Track Lowering
It is important to be clear about the requirements of a track lower and what this would mean
for the village of Steventon. The sketch below provides an overview of the requirements in
this regard.

Page 17

In order to create an acceptable gradient for trains, 100 metres of track either side of the
bridge has to be re-laid for every 100mm of lowering (which would necessitate works to and
past Stocks Lane to the west).
Among other discounted options, both a full track lower, and a partial track lower were
discussed further within Network Rail submission documents. These two options took into
account other factors such as the level crossings in the area, the necessary OLE wire
gradient, and of course the flood risk.
Full Track Lower
In order to achieve sufficient clearance at both crossings (for OLE wires), the track lower at
the bridge would need to be about 770mm – as indicated in the sketch below. This would
require approximately 800 metres of track and ballast to be renewed both sides of the bridge
along with the lowering of The Causeway (listed Grade II*) and would include lowering a four
track section to the east of the bridge.

This would also require an excavation of approximately 1500 mm depth at the bridge to form
the new track bed. A dig of this depth would likely destabilise the toe of the cutting and so
require significant earth retaining structures to be installed around the bridge. This would
probably be a reinforced concrete wall with ground anchors tying back into the cutting. The
structural strengthening of the bridge to allow for the excavation works would be significant
and require a long closure of the railway to achieve.
The technical reports written by CH2M Hill concluded that a significant lower of the track
level would introduce a very high risk to the railway of flood events. Considering the risk of
flooding to the rail network, and to the local community, Network Rail could not consider this
option as a viable solution.
Furthermore, and as noted previously, the PBA report also concluded that the reconstruction
of the culvert is very likely to have adverse flood risk consequences for Steventon village.
PBA did not consider this to be a viable solution either.
Partial Track Lower
Based on site survey information, Network Rail has assessed the minimum depth required in
order to provide both the minimum overhead line clearances and pantograph to bridge
clearances to be 444mm.

Page 18

If a track lower of 444mm was undertaken, the Causeway level crossing could remain open,
but this would require the closure of Stocks Lane level crossing to traffic. The Stocks Lane
closure to vehicles would be required because of the reduced OLE wire height of 5.3m
through the crossing (due to the change in track gradient associated with the track lower).
A track lower of 444mm would still incur many of the issues associated with a full track lower
as well as other matters. The extent of track requiring to be rebuilt would be a minimum of
444 metres either side of the bridge, and require a total depth of excavation of around
1,100mm to form the track bed.

The closure of Stocks Lane level crossing to vehicular traffic would also require modification
to the Byway Open to All Traffic (BOAT) along with Mill Street and Castle Street as there is
no alternative route suitable for large vehicles other than the Causeway level crossing. This
change to the access route into the southern half of Steventon would affect how vehicles and
pedestrians move around the village. The highway improvements would also impact on the
appearance of the southern part of the village.
As part of Network Rails consideration of the options, as the partial track lower resulted in
many of the same issues as a full track lower, and introduced further permanent impacts on
the local community through highway restrictions and local highway amendments, this option
was discounted as unviable.
As part of PBA’s assessment of our application it was queried whether a reduced wire
gradient of 1:400, or indeed 1:300 could be implemented reducing the engineering
challenges and making this a viable option. This is considered below.
Wire Gradient
Whilst Network Rail acknowledges that the gradient could be slightly improved by lowering
the wire and restricting vehicles through the crossing; a significant speed restriction will still
be required as indicated within the report by Peter Brett Associates. To retain Stocks Lane
and to be open to traffic, Network Rail has raised the wire height and increased the gradient
to 1:295 resulting in a speed restriction of 60mph - the temporary solution. The secondary
option is to close Stocks Lane level crossing which has to date been opposed.
At the existing bridge there are two separate issues associated with the low height of the
bridge which limit the speed at this location. The first being the sub-standard gradient
between the level crossing and the bridge, the second being the limited clearance between
the train pantograph and the bridge.

Page 19

When considering the gradient, Network Rail has raised the height of the wire to the
maximum permissible. Any further height increase will result in the train pantograph
detaching from the wire due to insufficient uplift force. Network Rails current engineering
solution will facilitate all existing road traffic through the level crossing. Whilst Network Rail
acknowledge the gradient could be slightly improved by lowering the wire and restricting
vehicle height through the crossing; a significant speed restriction will still be required as
indicated within the report by Peter Brett and Associates. To retain Stocks Lane open to
traffic, Network Rail has raised the wire height and increased the gradient to 1:295 resulting
in a speed restriction of 60mph – the temporary solution. The secondary option is to close
Stocks Lane level crossing which has to date been opposed.
The challenge by Historic England noted in the Peter Brett Associate report to the Vale of
White Horse, appended in Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 9th
May 2018 was as follows:

Network Rail has responded to this in previous correspondence with Historic England and
Vale of White Horse District Council in relation to the OLE wire gradient. We would like to
highlight the following points or key factors when considering any option in relation to the
reconstruction of Steventon High Street Bridge.
Where there are variations in contact wire height, the gradient shall not be steeper than 1:5 x
line speed, measured in mile/h (i.e. 125 mph line-speed would give a grading of 1:625).
In the context of 125mph running:




1:500 = 100mph
1:400 = 80mph
1:300 = 60mph

If a variation in contact wire height is required, this should be achieved with as small a
gradient as possible. For speeds, up to and including 125mph (200km/h) the design values
for gradient shall not exceed 1:5 times the line speed in miles per hour. The design values for
changes in gradient shall not exceed 1:10 times the line speed in miles per hour.
In direct response to the Solka report – see the exert below, Network Rail believes that the
statement made below is in direct contradiction to current Network Rail and RSSB standards.
Maximum change in gradient is actually 1:10. A maximum gradient of 1:300 would therefore
equate to a speed of 60mph and not 100mph as quoted. Also note that the standards
referenced below are GE/RT8025 issued 2001.

Page 20

The Council must note that significant elements of this document have since been
superseded.




The following parts are to be superseded by GLRT1210 Iss 1 as of 07/03/2015: B4.1,
and parts of B4.2, B4.3, B4.5.1, B4.5.2, B4.5.3 and B4.6.
The following parts are superseded by GLRT1212 Iss 1 (part of B5.5) and
GMRT2113 Iss 1 (parts of B5.5 and B5.6) on 05/12/2015.
The following parts are to be superseded by GMRT2111 Iss 1 as of 03/06/2017: B4.8.

It is also noted that an assessment of a track lower was outside of the scope of the study
undertaken by Solka. The reference to track lowering, already referenced in this letter, is
stated as an engineering option which Network Rail has previously considered and provided
our engineering assessment to the Vale of White Horse District Council and other
stakeholders.

For speeds, greater than 125mph (200km/h) the design values for gradient and changes of
gradient shall not exceed the values set out in BS EN 50119 Table 11. For speeds that fall
between the values in BS EN 50119 Table 11, the gradient of the greater speed shall be
applied. A level span should be provided between changes of direction of gradient.
The existing Network Rail temporary solution is to impose a 60mph PSR (speed restriction
until such time as the bridge is reconstructed or other solution) due to the existing wire
gradient of 1:295 which is in line with the PBA proposed 1:300.
The second issue at the bridge (described in the above diagram) relates to the clearance
between the train pantograph and the bridge. When calculating pantograph clearance ‘sway’
must also be considered which relates to the dynamic movement of the pantograph itself.
Due to the low bridge height, the clearance between the pantograph and the arch of the
bridge is such that a speed restriction is required to mitigate the risk of the pantograph
striking the bridge. This issue is unrelated to the wire gradient.

Furthermore, the track has already been slewed as far as possible within industry safety
limits to provide maximum clearance which has still resulted in a maximum speed available
of 60mph through (under) the bridge.

Page 21

To summarise, notwithstanding the necessary reduction in line speed with the queried
increase of OLE wire gradient, the speed restrictions resulting from pantograph sway still
restricts the line speed through the bridge to 60mph.
Restricting the line speed underneath the structure, and obviously beyond with the trains
having to slow down / speed up to line speed, results in impacts on the use of the rail
network and its efficiency. The impacts of these time delays are discussed further below.
Train capacity - the impact of the 25 second delay
Progressing from the issues discussed above, queries were raised over the significance of
the 25 second delay / loss of time as a result of the 60mph speed restriction. Whilst the 25
second delay might not at first seem significant in itself when taken out of context, the impact
should not be underestimated.
The off peak train pattern in the indicative diagram below gives an indication of the number of
train paths from London Paddington (in the east) to the various destinations to the west,
including those that go through Steventon via Didcot Parkway.

This can be summarised as follows:
7 x Intercity Express Trains (IETs) and 2 x Freight per hour, off peak, in either direction
between Didcot and Swindon i.e. a total of 14 x IETs + 4 freight = 18 Trains per Hour.
The diagram above and tables below only covers current traffic, and does not consider the
Class 387 ECS to/from Swindon Cocklebury which will also run through Steventon.

Page 22

Note the peak has not been shown as this only represents two hours of the day.
The following information has been provided by the train operator Great Western Railway.
Trains
Per
Hour

Journey Plan

Trains Per
Hour

Journey Plan

2
2
2
1
2

London to Bristol via Box
London to Bristol via Badminton
London to South Wales
London to Kemble and Cheltenham Spa
Freight paths

2
2
2
1
2

Bristol to London via Box
Bristol to London via Badminton
South Wales to London
Kemble to London
Freight paths

The above does not include Empty Coaching Stock (ECS) which will run between Cocklebury (Swindon) and Didcot for stabling, cleaning and
minor maintenance.

Line

Down
Down
Up

Up

Stopping or
through
service

Within Section (Timing

Stopping
Stopping
Through
Through
Stopping
Stopping

Didcot to Wantage Rd

Through
Through

Wantage Rd to Didcot

Point to Timing Point)

Didcot to Wantage Rd
Wantage Rd to Didcot

Diagramming
assumption

Time
(section
running time)

Electric mode
With power changeover
Electric mode
With power changeover
Electric mode
With Power Changeover

5minutes
6 minutes
3 minutes
4 minutes
3.5 minutes
4 minutes

Electric mode
With power changeover

3minutes
3minutes

Total
loss

1minute
1 minute
30secon
ds
Nil

Above information is based on an assessment undertaken by GWR. Indication of time difference within one section between timing points

Note that whilst the time loss through the Steventon site is approximately 25 seconds this will
result in the above loss within the above timing point locations.
Determining the full timetabling impact of this is currently impossible without having a firm
timetable offer. It is highly likely that slightly slower journey times will make the pathing of
some services more difficult through the critical Swindon-Didcot section, and will therefore
contribute towards any path rejections (reduction of trains from the required specification).
The timetable is back-timed from Paddington, so the impact is more likely to be west of
Steventon.
For Class 387 ECS to/from Swindon Cocklebury, complying with a 60mph PSR will probably
add 2-3 minutes to the running time, which is nearly an entire path (4 minutes headway) and
will no doubt make pathing extremely difficult beyond early morning / late night.
Due to the above, GWR will be required to bid for diesel timings between Swindon and
Didcot (current HST timings) without the improved timings associated with the introduction of
IET’s.
This is likely to result in a reduction to services from the current specification.
To implement this as a permanent solution would result in a reduction of the number of trains
that could run on the network, and a reduction in the efficiency of the network removing the
public benefits of electrification.

Page 23

Temporary Parapet Amendments
The temporary measure - an extension of the bridge parapet heights - has been
implemented as an interim solution. It is not sustainable in the long term.
The reason for installing this temporary measure is to allow the electrification of the railway
line to proceed. OLE carries 25,000 volts of electricity and is highly dangerous. Network Rail
must reduce the risk of electrocution as far as reasonably practicable in accordance with UK
and European safety standards. This is a safety requirement for any bridge over a railway
line which is powered by Overhead Line Electrification (OLE).
The key constraint of the temporary measure is the requirement for a 60 mph speed
restriction on trains as discussed above. The introduction of the speed limit cannot be seen
as progress in delivering a nationally significant infrastructure programme; the electrification
of the railway line as part of the Greater West route modernisation project.
Summary
The electrification of the Capital to Capital route will result in the first electrified railway
between London and South Wales. It will allow for the introduction of new electric trains
which are greener, quieter, faster to accelerate and lighter.
Steventon Bridge was built as part of Brunel’s original Great Western Railway from
Paddington to Bristol, one of the country’s ‘pioneering phase’ lines. Completed to a
standardised three-arch design, the bridge has undergone several phases of alteration in its
history, including the replacement of its copings, insertion of tie plates and re-facing in
engineering brick. However, the most unsympathetic alteration was the insertion of concrete
tie bracing to the side arches in 1963.
The option to demolish Steventon Bridge follows a long series of consultations with local and
national stakeholders, as well as Network Rail’s re-evaluation of the 10 listed overbridges
originally identified as requiring full reconstruction. The exceptional engineering challenge of
getting the wires under Steventon Bridge is caused by the bridge’s position adjacent to two
level crossings. The engineering solution required is also exceptional in terms of The Greater
West – the decision to demolish a listed bridge.
We hope this provides the Council with the information that they were seeking answers to,
and that agreement can now be reached on the above Listed Building Consent application
and associated Prior Approval application.
Yours sincerely

Ian Wheaton MRTPI
Town Planner

Enc - Network Rail email response to Solka report dated

Page 24

Appendix 2
Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 9 May 2018

APPLICATION NO.
SITE
PARISH
PROPOSAL

WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
OFFICER

P17/V1154/LB

Steventon Overbridge High Street
Steventon Abingdon, OX13 6RS
STEVENTON
Demolition of listed railway overbridge,
and provision of replacement bridge. As
amended by plans received on 10
August 2017 (additional information
received 16 March 2018: Options Review
from PBA)
Matthew Barber
Network Rail
Charlotte Brewerton

1.0

RECOMMENDATION

1.1

Listed Building Consent for demolition of the Grade II listed overbridge at
Steventon subject to the following conditions:
1 : Commencement 3 yrs - Listed Building Consent
2 : Approved plans
3 : Sample materials (walls - panel)
4 : Historic Records

2.0
2.1

BACKGROUND & CONTEXT

2.2

The Steventon Overbridge is a grade II listed, brick built 3-arched bridge, with
central wide Elliptical arch and flanking narrower round arches located on the
edge of Steventon prior to the Milton Interchange. The bridge, which is owned
by Oxfordshire County Council, carries the B4017 public road (High Street)
over the Great Western Main Line and was listed in 1988.

2.3

In 2011 Network Rail concluded that Steventon Overbridge would need to be
demolished to achieve electrification of the Great Western mainline in the
upgrade from London to Cardiff.

2.4

Currently the bridge does not have sufficient electrical and physical clearance
to allow the safe use of Overhead Line Electrification (OLE) equipment
through the bridge. The low clearance through the bridge is exasperated by
the need for OLE contact wire to have a minimum safety clearance of 5.8m
through the adjacent Level Crossing’s, at The Causeway and Stocks Lane,
and to maintain a compliant gradient to the contact wire.

This application has been called to planning committee by Councillor Matthew
Barber.

Page 25

Appendix 2
Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 9 May 2018

2.5

This application has been submitted for Listed Building Consent to demolish
the Listed Overbridge. Network Rail have provided justification of the following
options, which have been considered and found to be unviable to implement:
1. A full Track lower underneath the bridge
2. A partial track lower and closure of the Stocks Lane Level Crossing to
vehicles
3. A permanent speed restriction along this section of the line
4. Closure of Stocks Lane and the Causeway Level Crossings and a new
link road.
5. Bridge lifting (Jacking) Or
6. Total demolition of the listed bridge

2.6

Throughout the application process, Officers have liaised with Network Rail,
Historic England and Oxfordshire County Council, who own the bridge, having
regular meetings to discuss and consider the most appropriate course of
action to ensure the electrification project, which is of national importance, is
completed in a timely manner.

2.7

The latest delay in the determination of this application has been the need for
the Council to gain an Independent Options Review of the Alan Baxter Report
and CH2M Hill Report. The Council have requested Peter Brett Associates
(PBA) to independently analyse these options to ensure a thorough
assessment of the possible alternatives and enable an understanding of the
technical issues surrounding the choice for demolition of a listed heritage
asset.

2.8

The PBA Options Review, attached at Appendix 1, has concluded that ‘an
exceptional engineering solution to achieve the 125mph running of the
Intercity Express Programme (IEP) trains without demolition of the existing
listed bridge, may be achievable through a combination of some or all of the
following’:
•
•


2.9

Closing of Stocks Lane level crossing to vehicles (but remaining open
to pedestrians)
Exceeding the maximum recommended contact wire gradient on an
exceptional basis and
Undertaking a partial track lower

In addition to the PBA report, Steventon Parish Council have also
commissioned their own independent report, The Solka Report. This report
concludes that additional details could be submitted which relate to vertical
track alignment, depths of existing ballast and identification of any
underground drainage systems which would enable an optimum track lower to
allow OLE under the existing bridge. Therefore, demolition is not proven and
there are possible technical solutions. A copy of this report is attached at
Appendix 2.

Page 26

Appendix 2
Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 9 May 2018

3.0
3.1

INTRODUCTION
The railway passes through Steventon east to west dividing the village into
northern and southern parts. The bridge carries the High Street over the
railway providing access to the northern part of the village.

3.2

The primary routes to the southern half of the village are from the northern part
of the village utilising two level crossings, one on Stocks Lane and another on
The Causeway.

3.3

The southern part of the village includes residential areas and commercial
properties including a small business park and a farm located near to the
structure. These properties all rely on the level crossings for access. There is
an unmade track which is a designated BOAT (Byway Open to All Traffic) but
this is narrow with tight turns and not suitable for vehicular traffic (except 4x4’s
and farm vehicles).

Fig 3.1
3.4

Steventon Overbridge forms part of a group of listed station yard buildings
including Brook House, Station House and The Sycamores in Steventon
Station Yard which were designed by IK Brunel c.1839.

3.5

These structures have group value with other listed structures along the
route of the GWR from London to Cardiff and Swansea beyond, which were
designed by IK Brunel.

Page 27

Appendix 2
Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 9 May 2018

3.6

The site abuts the Steventon Conservation Area but is not located in it. The
recently updated Flood Maps provided by The Environment Agency identify
the site to be located within Flood Zone 3: Functional Floodplain.

4.0
4.1

PROPOSAL

4.2

This application was registered by the council on 27 April 2017. Included in
the supporting documents was an options report which set out 5 alternative
options to demolition (as noted above). In addition, a Heritage Statement
justifying the demolition of the bridge was also included. A full copy of these
documents can be viewed on the councils website at www.vwhdc.gov.uk.

4.3

Amended drawings have been submitted that show the inner facing of the
overbridge, to be used by vehicular traffic, will be faced with red brick panels
to retain some of the historic appearance on advice from our Conservation
Officer. These plans altered the inner fascia of the bridge from concrete to a
red brick slip panel with matching mortar to the existing bridge.

4.4

Additional information sought throughout this application process includes:
 Amended bridge design dated 10 August 2017 submitted by Network
Rail

4.5

The proposal seeks to demolish the listed bridge and to replace it with a higher
contemporary structure as part of the Network Rail electrification of the GWR
mainline. A copy of the site location and proposed plans is attached at
Appendix 3.



Explanation from Network Rail regarding temporary measures to the
track dated 22 September 2017 – This statement was submitted due to
the delay in the application and the need to continue to be able to run
electric trains along this part of the track whilst the application was
pending. It explains that this temporary option could not be considered
a permanent solution in order to retain the bridge.



Peter Brett Associates Options Review dated 16 March 2018 –
Independent review of the options commissioned on behalf of Vale of
White Horse DC.



Solka Report commissioned on behalf of Steventon Parish Council
dated 23 March 2018.

Alongside this listed building application Network Rail have submitted a prior
approval application. P17/V1161/P18 considers the works under Part 18,
Class A, Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 by Network Rail (NR) in their capacity as statutory
undertaker. This application is a process whereby details are notified to the
local planning authority prior to the development taking place.

Page 28

Appendix 2
Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 9 May 2018

5.0

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATION COMMENTS AND REPRESENTATIONS
The consultation comments received are summarised below. For a full copy
of these responses can be viewed online at www.vwhdc.gov.uk.
Consultee
Steventon Parish
Council

Original Proposal
Object (11 June 2017)
 Great historic
importance – a symbol
of the coming of the
GWRL through VOWH
 Great effect on
Steventon - LBC does
not take into account
 Not fully investigatede
– due process not
investigated by NR
 Options not analysed
in depth – rushing
application through
 No consideration of
objections from the
village
 Costs affect NR –
costs by others
irrelevant
 Alternatives have not
been costed in depth
 No transport appraisal
– no evcidence of this
within documents
 Bridge jacking
company not
consulted
 Heriate Statement not
sufficient justification

Amended information
Object (4 April 2018)
 Insufficient
information to
justify
demolition

Drayton Parish
Council

Object (10 June 2017)
•Traffic often queues at the
double roundabout in
Abingdon, so Draytonians
often drive South to the
Milton interchange (via this
bridge) to get onto the A34 to
then drive north. Traffic from
Steventon will also be forced
to take alternative routes.
•Three major housing sites
are being built in Drayton and
the closure of the bridge will

Object (26th March
2018)
 improvement
(albeit a small
one).
 concerns
regarding the
disruption and
the knock-on
effects on
Drayton remain.
 Amendments
do not address

Page 29

Appendix 2
Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 9 May 2018

force construction traffic to go
via Milton or Abingdon.
•Major traffic issues will arise
if the A34 is shut.
•The condition on the Hanney
Road is poor so it is not a
viable alternative route.
•Cycling from Abingdon to
Harwell will be disrupted.
•Bus route will be disrupted.
•Any possibility to keep the
road open must be
considered.
•Cost to the local economy.
•The listed bridge will be
replaced by a concrete
structure.
Sutton Courtenay
Parish Council –

our previous
concerns
regarding the
proposal to
replace the
bridge.

Object (6 April 2018)
Object (30 June 2017)
 harm to the historic
 an engineering
environment and
solution should
importance of the
be found to
bridge and
keep the
surrounding area,
existing
structure.
 not enough justification
 Traffic impact
for loss of bridge.
Object (11 September 2017)
 Aware the proposal
materials have
changed
 Main concern is traffic
impact
 Route is main access
and local village roads
are at capacity
 Parish fully supports
local view with regards
to traffic impact
 Full investigation into
diversion routes
required
 S106 funding should
be sought for local
traffic schemes.

Historic England
(South East) – (

No objection (11 August
2017)
•Adequate justification for
demolition has been given by

Page 30

No Objection (8
September 2017)
 Cladding the
inner face of

Appendix 2
Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 9 May 2018

the parapet of
Network Rail in order to meet
the proposed
the requirements of
bridge with
paragraph 132 of the NPPF.
brick slips
• All the potential options are
would markedly
either impossible, would pose
improve its
a risk to the running of the
appearance.
railway or would involve
lengthy closures.
 Our position
• With regret we conclude
regarding the
that the Network Rail have
principle of
made a clear enough case for
demolition
the bridge to be demolished
remains as set
in order for electrification to
out in our
be delivered on time and
previous letter.
compromising the service
No Objection (18 April
provided by the railway is to
2018)
be avoided.
• Obtained
clarification
Holding Comment (23
from NR on a
March 2018)
number of
 The PBA report does
issues
not offer a practical
• Any speed
alternative solution to
restriction
demolition and this
would prove
report does not
disruptive to the
change our stance.
line reducing
We do not object to
maximum
the application.
capacity
 The Solka Report
• Strong
raises serious
justification for
questions about the
demolition
necessity for
demolition.
 The Solka Report
concentrates on the
technical details of
electrifying the line
which need clarifying
by Network Rail.
Conservation
Officer (VOWH)

In-principle objection (21
July 2017)
• Since the bridge is listed
and its’ condition appears
sound, there is, in isolation,
no structural reason to justify
the demolition of the bridge.
• The proposal would affect
the character and
appearance of the Steventon

Page 31

No Objection (1
September 2017)
 Highly
regrettable in
proposing the
total demolition
of one of a
number of
bridges.

Appendix 2
Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 9 May 2018

Conservation Area and would
neither preserve nor enhance
it by means of the proposed
total demolition.
• The bridge is worthy and
capable of retention and
significant locally and
nationally as a bridge which
was designed and
constructed by a nationally
important engineer.
• In my view the proposal
constitutes substantial harm,
as it results in total loss of the
designated heritage asset
under section 133 of the
NPPF.
• It is recognised that the
Planning Officer must take
into account the wider public
benefits of the national
electrification scheme and
consider whether the public
benefits of the scheme
outweigh the harm of the
demolition and replacement
of the bridge.

OCC Highways



Should
demolition be
deemed on
balance
acceptable by
the Planning
Officer, details
should be
supplied by
condition.

No Objection 19th
April 2018



I regrettably
concur with the
recommendatio
ns of Historic
England as the
government’s
advisors on
national
heritage.

Holding comment (3 April
2018)
 Network Rail is given
the opportunity to
respond to the SOLKA
Report before a
decision is made on
the fate of the bridge.
 Historic England is the
government’s expert
advisors on heritage
matters. It is therefore
important that the
Council follows the
advice of Historic
England in obtaining
these points of
clarification
No statutory requirement to
Sent a statement with
consult on an LBC application regards to traffic
implications. Attached
at Appendix 4

Page 32

Appendix 2
Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 9 May 2018

Wantage & Grove
Campaign Group

Neighbours
Object (46)

Object (6 June 2017)
 No sufficiently detailed
analysis
 10months no turning at
traffic lights, traffic
problems on A34 and
hold ups at Milton
Road and additional
traffic at Hanney and
Drayton
 Options to lower track,
lift bridge and track
slew but NR don’t want
to do it NR Not
following due process
 Should have analysed
all alternatives
thoroughly not
dismissed them
 Evidence must be
provided to
demonstrate
demolition only
solution – dispute
 EA says no flood risk
therefore lower track. If
flooding can use a
pump to pump it away
 Open a new station at
Grove for new railway
line from Oxford to
Bristol – hope the new
design can
accommodate this and
not need more road
closures and
replacement for this
too.
• Whilst it is acknowledged
that the current bridge cannot
accommodate the
electrification of the railway,
the proposed solution is an illconsidered and generic
solution that might be
satisfactory for other
locations along the line but is
completely unsatisfactory for
Steventon.
• Due process not followed

Page 33

•

•

No alternative
options have
been seriously
considered by
NR.
combination of
options would
allow the
passage of
electrically
powered trains
without undue

Appendix 2
Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 9 May 2018

• Lack of communication from
NR to public
• No costings for all options
shown – not justified
• Lack of evidence to make
informed or reasoned
decision
• No structural survey –
surely required to assess
justifiable?
• Historic importance
• Group value – remove one
element devalue group
• VOWH should stand up for
LB
• Design not in keeping nor
does it preserve historic
significance
• Other options are available
• Significant historic value will
be lost
• Not a sympathetic design
• Inappropriate materials,
appearance and design
• Road closure for 10 months
unacceptable
• Detrimental to setting of
within a conservation area –
unique vista
• Ugly proposed replacement
• Driven by cost and speed of
construction
• Historic context a secondary
consideration
• Not fully considered the
alternatives
• Commercial and political
decision
• More exploratory work
required
• Bi mode trains should be
used in this location
• Traffic implications
• Disregard of existing
landscapes.
Neighbours
Support (2)



Modernisation and
upgrade of the Railway
line.

Page 34

•

delays, and
without
closing the
Stocks Lane
crossing.

Appendix 2
Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 9 May 2018

Neighbours
No Strong View
(2)




Historic asset but unfit
for purpose
Modernisation but at
expense of listed
structure?

6.0
6.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

6.2

P14/V2644/PEM - (12/03/2015)
Great Western electrification project, Steventon Overbridge.

6.3

P13/V1380/ES - Approved (27/09/2013)
Environmental Statement for the scheme of works to electrify the Great
Western Main Line Railway.

7.0
7.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

P17/V1161/P18 –
Prior Approval for demolition of Steventon Overbridge and replacement bridge as part
of the Electrification of the GWRL.

The main issues in relation to the consideration of this application are:


The demolition of the bridge which is a Grade II heritage asset

7.2

Saved Policies HE1, HE4 and HE5 of the Vale of White Horse 2011 seek to
preserve and enhance heritage assets and protect their setting. In addition,
Core Policy 39 of Vale of White Horse 2031 Part 1, has regard to the Historic
Environment.

7.3

Paragraph 132 of the NPPF and paragraph 133 of the Framework, states that:
Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to or total loss of
a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse consent,
unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or loss is necessary to
achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss, or all of the
following apply:
•
•
•
•
•

7.4

The nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site;
and
No viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium
term
Through appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and
Conservation by grant-funding or some form of charitable or public
ownership is demonstrably not possible; and
The harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back
into use.

In addition, Officers have to assess this application in accordance with
Paragraph 132 of the NPPF which requires ‘the Council to give “great weight”
to the conservation of the bridge and section 16 of the Planning (Listed

Page 35

Appendix 2
Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 9 May 2018

7.5

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires the Council to have
“special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting”.

7.6

The proposal seeks consent to demolish a grade II listed structure which would
lead to the loss of historic fabric and in isolation Officers should recommend
refusal of such an application.

7.7

However, the proposal seeks to improve the running efficiency of the GWR and
in doing so would lead to wider public benefits both nationally and locally. In
order to weigh up the balance Officers have considered the options below
against Paragraph 132 of the NPPF.

7.8

The Council, having considered advice from all statutory consultees must
consider the necessity test - whether the total demolition of the bridge is
necessary to deliver the substantial public benefits that electrification of the
Great Western Main Line would bring. As part of this assessment the
alternative options which retain the bridge have been assessed.

7.9

Review of the options
Bridge Jacking
Bridge lifting, or jacking up, is a relatively new concept which seeks to raise the
entire bridge to achieve the required height underneath to enable the Overhead
Line Equipment (OLE) to be placed safely underneath. Whilst it has been
achieved successfully in the UK this bridge is slightly different in that it is a 3arched bridge and the track underneath is on a partial slew. The front face of
the bridge has already been refaced in concrete and its arches have concrete
bracings with infilling of the lateral pier arches to strengthen them.

7.10

Our Conservation Officer has advised that ‘Jacking is likely to so alter, disfigure
and compromise the appearance and proportions of the bridge in relation to its’
surroundings that even if it were feasible it would not achieve desirable or
successful outcomes’.

7.11

Officers consider that in Heritage terms both the Conservation Officers and
Historic England advice would not look favourably at this option. Officers
accept that this is not a viable option for the bridge.

7.12

Full Track Lower
Mill Stream culvert carries Ginge Brook beneath the railway. NR has
discounted this option due to the likeliness of flooding that could occur if the
track was lowered.

7.13

PBA have also concluded that this option would not be viable due to the
likeliness of flooding. The Environment Agency have recently updated their
hydraulic testing of Ginge Brook which has resulted in them making changes to
their flood maps. The land surrounding the railway line has been upgraded
from a Flood Zone 1 location, the lowest zone likely to flood, to a Flood Zone 3
location, this being a functional floodplain. Therefore Officers consider that any
lowering of the track, whether partial or full, is likely to result in flooding of the
railway line. This is therefore not a viable option.

Page 36

Appendix 2
Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 9 May 2018

7.14

Permanent Speed Restriction
NR have eliminated this option as a reduced track speed has disadvantages to
train running times and the wear and tear upon the pantograph and contact
wire gradient of electrified trains. This in turn would lead to increased
maintenance costs.

7.15

PBA conclude that this option could be viable (for electric trains only) but would
have an operational consequence with running a train at a reduced speed
through Steventon (approximately 40mph rather than 125mph).

7.16

The Solka Report notes that it is unlikely that trains are passing through
Steventon at speeds greater than 100mph due to the changes in tracks from 2
to 4.

7.17

Officers note that any speed restrictions would affect the arrival times of trains
between London and Cardiff which is contrary to the electrification project of
the mainline railway. In a response to the Solka Report HE state that ‘contrary
to the assumptions made in the Solka report, trains are indeed currently
running at 125mph through Steventon.

7.18

HE advises that should the bridge be retained ‘A further issue, that of
pantograph sway, has been raised. This would mean that trains are restricted
to passing under Steventon bridge at 60mph if the tracks are slewed to obtain
maximum clearance. While doubtless the issue of pantograph sway could be
addressed by a partial track lower it looks unlikely that full line speed can be
achieved here if both the crossings are to be kept open.’

7.19

Furthermore, ‘Network Rail have confirmed that at peak times up to 18 trains
an hour are passing under the bridge and it is at these peak times that even a
relatively small slowing of the line-speed would prove disruptive. The PBA
report concludes that even a minor reduction in maximum speed to 105-110
mph (the maximum speed of current bi-modal trains) reduces the maximum
capacity of the line here to 18 trains an hour, so presumably a reduction below
that would indeed cause issues at peak times and make intensification of traffic
very difficult.’

7.20

Officers do not wish to compromise the effectiveness of a national project.
Given the likeliness of later arrival times and the increased costs that may be
incurred from increased wear and tear to the wires Officers consider that this
would not be wholly desirable to the national project resulting in very little gains
nationally. Whilst PBA have advised us that this option could be a possibility in
reality, when assessing a trains efficiency, maintenance costs versus a
considerable improvement to the line and running efficiency Officers consider
on balance this option is not viable in this instance.

7.21

Reduced Track Lower combined with closure of Stocks Lane Level Crossing to
vehicles
PBA have advised that this option would require more work by NR to
understand viability in more detail. It would result in closing Stocks Lane to

Page 37

Appendix 2
Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 9 May 2018

vehicles but open to pedestrians with a maximum track lower of 444mm under
the bridge which may present some engineering challenges.
7.22

The Solka Report advises that with additional testing and detailed information
an optimal track lowering scheme could achieve retention of the bridge.

7.23

Officers note that in order to assess Solka Report conclusions additional testing
and detailed information is required. This would delay the process, and the
overall scheme, even further which already has time pressures from Central
Government. The partial lower of the track has already identified that in this
location the line could be at risk from flooding and therefore the conclusions put
forward by Solka, whilst possible, in this location would not be a viable option.

7.24

Officers consider that closing one of the level crossings to vehicles would have
significant impacts upon Steventon village and its residents. Retaining the
bridge, compromising the project and resulting in highways upheaval
elsewhere in the village does not result in significant gains in this instance but
only provides to pass a logistics problem elsewhere along the trainline.

7.25

Officers consider that retrofitting a scheme around a bridge that is not the best
example of a Brunelian structure, increasing project funding and delaying the
National scheme further, whilst adding local traffic upheaval to residents of
Steventon does not appear to be a pragmatic approach. Therefore, on balance
Officers weigh in favour of loss of the bridge when considered against this
option.

7.26

Closure of Stocks Lane and The Causeway Level Crossings and a New Link
Road
PBA confirm that this option ‘would close Stocks Lane Level Crossing and
closes the Causeway Level Crossing to vehicles allowing access only by
pedestrians. This would then allow train speed to reach 125mph. Closing both
level crossings to vehicles would have a significant effect on the village of
Steventon and would require significant highways works to reinstate suitable
vehicular access to the south side of the village.’

7.27

Closing the two Level Crossings to vehicular traffic would have a detrimental
long term impact on traffic within Steventon and result in significantly more
upheaval to the Village road network than closure of the bridge for 10months.

7.28

There is a BOAT adjacent to the railway line but this access route is very
narrow and does not present an easy option to upgrade for use by heavy traffic
flow.

7.29

In addition, OCC have advised that they would not permit closure of the level
crossings and so officers weigh in favour of bridge demolition based upon the
public impact and the benefits a replacement bridge would have versus this
option.

7.30

Historic England objected to the original proposal. However having reviewed
the options and the Heritage Statement they do not object to this application

Page 38

Appendix 2
Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 9 May 2018

and are now satisfied that adequate justification for the demolition of the bridge
has been provided.
7.31

Officers are mindful that closing the Stocks Lane level crossing would result in
an objection from OCC, as Highways Authority, and could result in lengthy
public enquiries to get the necessary permissions in order to secure this. In
addition, closing of this level crossing would result in significant traffic
implications to local residents with the need to find an alternative vehicular
route around the village. This would not be beneficial to the public and could
result in significant disruptions to the traffic network which could last longer
than the planned closure of the road for 10 months.

7.32

A number of objections have been received in relation to the demolition and
replacement of the bridge due to the road closure and long diversion route
which would have to be put in place for approximately 10 months. Closure of
the bridge would be extremely inconvenient to residents but in the longer term,
once the upgrade of the railway line has been completed, it would return to a
fully functioning road through the village without resulting in traffic implications
further around the village.

7.33

A number of other bridges along this mainline route have been retained
throughout the undertaking of this electrification project. Steventon Overbridge
given its design as a 3 arched bridge, its location within a floodplain, its partial
track slew and its identification at not being ‘the best example of a ‘Brunealien’
structure’ have provided difficulties in its retention.

7.34

There is no option to fit in alternative road links in this part of Steventon and as
such a replacement, purpose built bridge is considered, regrettably, the most
beneficial option in this instance.

7.35

The bridge abuts the Conservation Area. Officers consider that the loss of the
bridge would not be materially detrimental to the wider visual significance of the
Conservation Area. This is due to the limited views from public vantage points
that the bridge commands. Its loss would not cause severe visual harm to The
adjacent Conservation Area.

8.0

CONCLUSION

8.1

Having regards to Paragraph 132 of the NPPF, to give great weight to the
conservation of the bridge and section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, to have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the building or its setting, whilst there would be significant harm from
the loss of a historic asset, demolition is outweighed by the public benefits both
locally and nationally.

8.2

Demolition and the provision of a replacement structure allows important
modernisation to the railway network. Whilst officers are aware that in the short
term there would be significant traffic implications to Steventon and the wider
area, once the upgrading works are completed there will be no longer term
traffic implications to residents and the village of Steventon from its loss.

Page 39

Appendix 2
Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 9 May 2018

8.3

Given the location of the bridge within Flood Zone 1 and the probability of
flooding of the railway line, Officers consider that any lowering of the track would
cause severe implications to the running capacity of the track. This is not in the
national interest nor would it result in public benefits that the electrification
project is trying to achieve.

8.4

The closure of the levels crossings and a speed restriction on this part of the
line has been discounted due to the extremely disruptive impact it would have
upon running capacity of a busy line. Furthermore, a speed restriction along this
part of the line would have implications to the maintenance of the OLE
equipment.

8.5

There would be no possibility of an alternative route to allow vehicles from this
part of Steventon to gain access to the wider surrounding area. The adjacent
BOAT is too narrow with any upgrading works needing to be considerable to
provide for a heavy flow of local traffic.

8.6

Officers therefore consider that having assessed all viable options, on balance
and regrettably, the justification for the total demolition of the bridge is
necessary to deliver the substantial public benefits that electrification of the
Great Western Main Line would bring. This is in accordance with Policies HE1,
HE4 and HE5 of the Vale of White Horse Saved Policies 2011 and Core Policies
37, 39 and 40 of the Adopted Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031.

9.0
9.1

POLICIES
The following planning policies have been taken into account:

9.2

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;
HE1- Preservation and enhancement- implications for development
HE4- Development within the setting of a listed building
HE5 - Development involving alterations to a listed building

9.3

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1
CP37- Design and Local Distinctiveness
CP39- The Historic Environment
CP40- Sustainable Design and Construction
Officer: Charlotte Brewerton
Tel no: 01235 422600
Email: charlotte.brewerton@southandvale.gov.uk

Page 40

Agenda Item 7
Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

APPLICATION NO.
SITE
PARISH
PROPOSAL

WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
OFFICER

P18/V0692/RM
Steventon Road Nurseries, Steventon Road, East
Hanney, Wantage, OX12 0HS
East Hanney
Reserved matters application for the erection of 40
dwellings including appearance, landscaping, layout
and scale following the outline approval P16/V3226/FUL, variation of P15/V0898/O.
Matthew Barber
Mr John Matuszewski
Adrian Butler

RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that reserved matters be approved subject to
conditions summarised as follows:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Approved plans.
Materials to be agreed before work above slab level.
Landscaping implementation.
Road surfacing prior to completion.
Parking spaces to be provided before occupation.
Boundary details to be submitted and approved - details
implemented prior to occupation.
7. Play area details to be approved and implemented.
8. Bin collection points to be agreed.
9. No street lighting.
10. Garages to be retained.
11. Working hours to be Monday to Friday 07:30 to 18:00 and 08:00 to
13:00 Saturday. No works on Sundays or public holidays.
The planning conditions and Section 106 agreement for the outline
permission remain applicable.

1.0

INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL

1.1

The application is presented to the committee as East Hanney Parish
Council objects to the proposal.

1.2

The application seeks approval of reserved matters following the grant
of outline planning permission for up to 40 dwellings on this site. The
reserved matters are appearance, landscaping, layout and scale.

1.3

This reserved matters application is not an opportunity to revisit the
principle of development or means of access to the site which were
established by the outline permission. Surface water and foul water
drainage strategies are the requirement of planning conditions attached

Page 41

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

to the outline permission and these do not need to be submitted or
agreed at this stage.
1.4

The proposal is for 40 two-storey dwellings including 16 affordable
dwellings. Access is proposed from the Steventon Road as permitted
at outline stage. The outline permission also includes a pedestrian path
from the site access linking to an existing housing development to the
west (Whitfield Gardens). The layout plan is attached as Appendix 1 to
this report.

1.5

The proposal has been subject to the submission of amended plans
that seek to address initial objections from the highway officer and
comments by the waste management team about tracking for refuse
vehicles, and to provide additional parking to meet standards. In
addition, the applicant advises the roads will not be offered for
adoption, a no build zone exists around the pumping station and
therefore, this space has been used for parking.

1.6

The site location is shown on the plan below. The site is becoming
overgrown but formerly was used as a plant nursery. Buildings
associated with the nursery use remain on site. A vehicular access
exists on to Steventon Road. North of the site is land in use as a plant
nursery (Rosy Bee). Access to Rosy Bee is immediately west of the
application site. The land to the west and north is proposed as a
housing allocation in the draft version of the Local Plan 2031 Part 2
which is presently at Examination. Further to the west is new housing
(Whitfield Gardens). To the south is Steventon Road and beyond are
fields. To the east is a dwelling, agricultural buildings and fields. The
plan below shows the site and surroundings:

Page 42

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

2.0

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS AND
REPRESENTATIONS ON CURRENT SUBMISSION

2.1

A summary of the responses received to the current submission is
below. A full copy of all the comments made can be seen online at
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk

East Hanney Parish Council
Object for the reasons that may be summarised as follows:
 Any scheme should be presented as an initial phase of the draft Part
2 Local Plan housing site allocation north of the site
 Lack of consultation by the applicant with the local community
 Poor layout and design of the site and buildings
 Poor definition of materials to be used throughout
 Lack of vision with regards to other sites and integration
 Overly dense development for this location. Density should be
reduced to accord with an emerging Neighbourhood Plan policy
protecting the character of East Hanney
 Lack of appreciation of rural location, visual impact upon approach
and views from Ridgeway. An appeal decision at the southern edge
of the village rejected housing due to its visual impact
 A 1.8m high fence on the northern boundary would be visually
intrusive
 Affordable housing is not evenly distributed across the site
 House designs are out of keeping
 Bungalows are needed in the village
 Incomplete plans submitted
The following objections summarised would have been considered as part
of the outline application and therefore, are not matters that can be reexamined as part of the reserved matters application:
 The site is not allocated in the Local Plan and the council has a fiveyear land supply
 The home types do not contribute to the village
 Lack of local infrastructure to support the development e.g. the
primary school has yet to expand, inadequate sewage capacity and
water supply
 Unproven flood measurement or mitigation proposals
 Unproven or approved foul drainage proposals
 Lack of arboriculture plan
 Lack of an ecology report
 Concern about contamination of the land.
 Lack of public transport or ease of access to existing services
 Lack of appreciation regards the speed and volume of traffic using
the Steventon Road
 Lack of integration with the rest of the village. No vehicular links to
adjacent sites. No footpaths available.
 No consideration given to HGV movements along Steventon Road

Page 43

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

The Parish Council expects the public open space to be transferred to
them for adoption and maintenance. (Officer note. The s106 agreement
requires this to be transferred to a Management Company)
Local Residents
Amended plans:
One letter has been received making the following comments:
 Agree with the landscape officer’s comments especially with regard
to boundary issues
 A link between the site and the development built by Linden Homes
has disappeared which means they are now separated and not well
integrated
 Questions why a tree next to Whitfield Gardens has disappeared
from the plans?
 What electricity provision is made? Could be important with the
potential for more electric cars.
Original Plans:
Three letters of objection have been received and may be summarised as
follows:
 Unsustainable development
 Site is cut-off from the village and there is no safe crossing of the
A338
 Increased traffic leading to increased congestion, accident risks,
damage to roads and verges
 Loss of more flood plain and increased flood risks
 East Hanney has doubled in size damaging the character of the
village
 Water supply and drainage issues not addressed by developments.
Neighbouring site has been flooded
 No need for the development. There are unsold dwellings in the
village
 School is at capacity
 Inadequate infrastructure to support more housing
 Dangerous junction in the village with more traffic using it
 Steventon Road is degraded and unsuitable for traffic
 Pity the land to the north is not included. By not including it the result
will be three separate estates
 Conjoining the site with land to the north could allow a single access
and provide securer gardens for plots 1 to 11
 Plots 1 to 11 have insecure gardens formed by a hedge backing
onto a potential access. A fence would be better on the boundary
 Unprotected trees in the garden of proposed plot 1 could be felled.
Would be better if the trees were in the public open space
 No street lighting should be permitted
One local resident supports the need for more housing and affordable
housing with the following reservations:
 Retention of trees needed

Page 44

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018






Retain the Rosy Bee plants site
The speed limit on Steventon Road should be enforced
Would welcome a post box on this side of East Hanney
Can the school cope?

One local resident considers the proposal provides a good number of car
parking spaces. This local resident also has objections which have been
summarised above.
Oxfordshire County Council
Highways
No objection.
Recommend the following conditions:
 Provision of bicycle parking
 Garages not to be converted to living accommodation
 Surfacing of roads
 Construction method statement (Officer note: this condition is
already on the outline approval and will need to be complied with)
Archaeology
No objection
There are no archaeological constraints to this application.
Housing Team
Comments
 The affordable housing requirement of 40% is as agreed in the
outline approval.
 Where possible, parking courts should be avoided with parking
spaces provided either on-plot or adjacent to the properties. The
tandem parking for plots 16-19 should be revised.
Countryside Officer
No objection
Landscape Officer
Comments
(Officer note: All the matters raised below can be addressed by proposed
conditions and by the outline permission conditions. Further information is
provided in the text below).
Clarification with regard to site boundaries is required.
 Plot 1, there is no proposed fencing to the southern western site
boundary which is post and rail and to the west of this plot
 Plots 2-11 the boundary is delineated by existing chestnut pail
fencing. This does not provide a secure boundary to the properties
and there is likely to be pressure to install a more visually intrusive
solid boundary. Recommend the use of a weldmesh fence would
allow the boundary to be secure but be less visually intrusive that a
solid wooden fence. This should be located on the eastern side of
the existing hawthorn hedge.

Page 45

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018



Boundary treatments to the rear of the site also have similar issues
with regards to the just of close board fencing on the sites northern
boundary in the vicinity of the existing tree trunks. It would not be
possible to install a fence line on this alignment.
 The use of knee rail fencing is excessive. Planting, positioning of
trees, street furniture and swales in association with the proposed
on street parking can all be used to restrict the amount of knee rail
proposed.
 Close board fencing is also proposed to abut the areas of POS such
as the western boundary of plots 36 and 37. This is not an attractive
boundary treatment to the proposed POS.
(Officer note: Condition 6 recommended above requires boundary
treatments to be submitted, approved and implemented).
 The play area would be better if integrated into the POS, it does not
necessary need to be fenced or hedged. The play space could be
delineated by planting which provides play value and or a slight
change in ground levels and using the proposed safety surfacing.
 The play equipment should be linked, i.e. stepping stones linked to
the balance beam. I am unsure of the play value provided by the 6
proposed rubber Toadstools, these are different character than the
other wooden equipment and the proposed seating in the POS. It
would be better to provide play sculptures such as the dragon fly or
cricket from the same range of play equipment which allows for both
seating, balancing and imaginative play.
(Officer note: Proposed condition 7 requires details of the play area
equipment to be agreed)
 The footpath link along the road side westwards is not clearly shown
on the plans, and how this will impact on the retained site boundary
vegetation and the ditch also illustrated on the sites southern
boundary.
(Officer note: this path is shown on the access plans approved as part of
the outline permission, and condition 3 of the outline permission requires
the works to be implemented).
 A bench could be provided in the southern area of POS to take
advantage of the shade provided by the existing trees.
 The planting within the scheme is quite urban in places, and could
reflect the location of the development on the village edge more.
Such as the use of Prunus laurocerasus 'Otto Luyken' along the
western edge of the proposed swale.
 Plot 1 is hedged with Carpinus betulus at the site entrance and this
could be pulled though the site to link with its use adjacent to plot
12. Or planting could be used similar to that which is proposed east
of the parking bays, west of the northern area of POS.
 It is unclear what the design rational is for the proposed tree planting
within the northern area of POS. While it is good to see large sized
trees planted in this space they could be grouped to delineate space
better. Also, the range of species is unusual having alder
interspersed with hornbeam and beech.

Page 46

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018



There are limited trees proposed on the eastern side of the site.
North of plots 26 and 25 adjacent to the garden boundaries are
proposed 5 Viburnum bodnantense 'Dawn', however there is space
within this planting bed to use trees to break up the mass of the built
form in this location. The plots to the north are far enough away that
shading should not be an issue.
 The long term maintenance of boundary vegetation of this site is an
issue and this needs to be addressed. The trees along the northern
boundaries are mature and their long term replacement should be
addressed as part of the scheme. Again, the protection of the
western and south western boundary vegetation which are proposed
to be contained within the gardens boundaries also needs to be
addressed for their long term survival.
(Officer comment: Condition 4 of the outline permission remains relevant
and requires a landscaping scheme to be submitted prior to development
above slab level.
The landscape officer’s comments should be used by the developer to
inform an appropriate landscaping scheme to be submitted in accordance
with condition 4 of the outline permission).
Forestry Officer
Comments
The applicant has submitted an amended landscape scheme and a
management plan. Management of the line of Willow to the rear boundary
has been altered to a more sympathetic height reduction (to attain a
finished height of 4m). Provision needs to be made for the establishment of
any replacements within the line or a thinning regime to compliment the
long term gradual replacement of the tree screen.
The remainder of the proposals are acceptable.
Waste Management
Comments
 Communal bin collection points must be no more than 25m away
from the waste collection vehicle, rather than 30m shown on the
plans
 The bin collection point shown next to plot 18 should be closer to the
road
(Officer note: this can be addressed by condition 8 proposed)

3.0

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

3.1

Planning Applications:
P16/V3226/FUL - Approved (05/09/2017
Variation of conditions 3, 13,15 on application ref. P15/V0898/O –
minor change to the redline (reduction in site area), and other
associated minor changes to notation on drawings
Outline application for the erection of up to 40 dwellings, with all
matters reserved except access.

Page 47

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

P15/V2734/PEJ - Other Outcome (24/12/2015)
Development already permitted P15/V0898/O. Meeting to discuss
reserved matters.
P15/V0898/O - Approved (23/10/2015)
Outline application for the erection of up to 40 dwellings, with all
matters reserved except access (as amended by drawings
accompanying email from Agent dated 23 July 2015).
3.2

Pre Application Advice:
P18/V0147/PEJ - Other Outcome (02/02/2018)
Further Pre App Advise to application ref - P17/V2790/PEJ Reserved
matters application for the erection of up to 40 dwellings following
approval P16/V3326/FUL, variation of P15/V0898/O.
P17/V2790/PEJ - Other Outcome (28/11/2017)
Reserved matters application for the erection of up to 40 dwellings
following approval P16/V3326/FUL, variation of P15/V0898/O. Preapplication advice given.

4.0

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA)

4.1

The site area is less than 5ha, for fewer than 150 dwellings and is not
within a ‘sensitive area’ defined by the EIA Regulations. The proposal
is not EIA development.

5.0

MAIN ISSUES

5.1

The main planning considerations relevant to the assessment of this
application are the reserved matters which are:
1. Appearance
2. Landscaping
3. Layout
4. Scale

5.2

5.3

Appearance
East Hanney comprises an eclectic mix of house types and designs;
there is no set pattern of dwelling form. This site visually relates to
housing development on the eastern side of the A338 including the
recent Whitfield Gardens scheme. House types on this side of the
A338 tend to be two storeys with rectangular floor plans with some
including projecting gables, bay windows and porches. Roof pitches
vary from between 35°to 50°. Dwellings are a mix of detached, semidetached and terraces. Materials comprise red/brown multi stock
bricks, some render and timber boarding, with red or brown concrete
roof tiles.
The council’s Design Guide 2015 expects the form and massing of new
development to be kept simple with a rectangular floor plan and pitched
roof. It does allow more complex forms such as ‘L’ shaped buildings.

Page 48

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

5.4

The proposed dwellings comply with the Design Guide in having simple
forms with rectangular floor plans, pitched roofs and balanced
elevations. Some plots have dual elevations to turn the road corners
with side windows providing surveillance of side roads and open
spaces. A mix of wide and narrow frontages are provided which is
reflective of the character of the area. A mix of detached, semidetached and terraced dwellings is proposed. The proposals accord
with Design Guide principles DG52 and DG53.

5.5

Proposed materials include red/brown multi stock bricks timber
cladding, tile hanging and red/brown tiles. The appearance of the
dwellings is considered to respond positively to the Design Guide and
appearance of dwellings and materials used in this part of the village.
The proposal accords with core policies 37 and 38 of the Local Plan
2031 Part 1.

5.6

Landscaping
I acknowledge the comments expressed by the council’s landscape
and forestry officers. These matters can be addressed through the
discharge of the landscaping condition attached to the outline planning
permission, and the suggested planning conditions proposed for this
application.

5.7

It should be noted there is a constraint on the eastern boundary and in
the north east and south east corners of the site due to electricity
cables. This restricts new tree planting on the eastern boundary. It also
constrains development in the aforementioned corners.

5.8

The landscape and forestry officer’s comments should be used to
inform a revised landscaping scheme and boundary treatments plan. I
would emphasise that means of enclosure in the public domain need to
be walls, railings or hedges. A weld mesh fence would be appropriate
against the existing and retained hedge on the western boundary.
Subject to the imposition of planning conditions the proposal accords
with saved policy DC6 of the Local Plan 2011.

5.9

5.10

Layout
Affordable housing and housing mix
The affordable housing percentage, tenure mix and unit size mix plus
the market housing unit size mix are set in the s106 agreement
accompanying the outline permission.
The affordable housing percentage is 40% and the tenure mix is 75%
affordable rented and 25% shared ownership. The affordable housing
unit size mix in the s106 agreement and proposed is:

Affordable
rent

1-bed
2

2-bed
6

Page 49

3 -bed
3

4-bed
1

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

Shared
ownership

0

4

0

0

5.11

The Parish Council is concerned that the affordable housing is not
evenly distributed. It is provided in a ‘group’ of 12 in the north and east
of the site and a group of four in the west of the site. The authority
would normally accept clusters of 15 affordable dwellings. The
affordable housing is reasonable distributed across the site.
Furthermore, its appearance is resembles that of the similar sized
market dwellings and it is therefore, considered indistinguishable.

5.12

The market housing unit size mix is shown in the table below:
No of beds
Proposed
SHMA

1
0
1.4

2
4
5.2

3
12
10.2

4+
8
7.2

5.13 The NPPG advises that “Establishing future need for housing is not an
exact science. No single approach will provide a definitive answer”. The
SHMA text clearly acknowledges this and is equally clear that the
dwelling mixes it identifies are an estimate of need. The SHMA also
adds that in applying the estimates to individual sites regard should be
given to the nature of the development site and character of the area. It
also recognises that the ‘market’ is to some degree a better judge of
what is the most appropriate profile of homes to deliver at any point in
time. The market housing mix needs to be considered against this
background and market housing mix does not have to be an exact
match to the SHMA although I would expect it to be close.
5.14 The proposed market housing mix is considered acceptably close to
the SHMA estimate of housing need and the scheme responds to the
character of housing in the area.
5.15 In these circumstances the proposal is considered compliant with the
SHMA and core policy 22 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1. It is not
necessary for the applicant to provide a viability assessment.

5.16

Layout
I acknowledge the concerns expressed by the Parish Council. At preapplication stage the council appointed an urban design consultant to
advise on the scheme. The proposals respond positively to comments
made including providing road connection within the site and improved
open space through the site. The proposal has lower density
development facing the southern boundary of the site and on its
western edge. These are the most publicly visible parts of the site.
Higher density development is in the northern and north eastern
quadrant of the site which is well screened from the east and less
visible. The density of 21.7 dwellings per hectare (dph) is consistent
with densities of housing on the eastern side of the A338 (Anderson
Close 25dph, Stevenson Close and Dandridge Close 22.7dph,

Page 50

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

Whitfield Gardens 17dph). It is therefore, responds to its context and
accords with core policy 23 and principle DG26 of the Design Guide.
5.17

The applicant explains it has taken a landscape based approach to the
design with key trees and boundary hedges retained. I note the
proposal is reflective of the form of development on land to the west. It
also provides active street frontages, a connecting road, vistas and
focal points. Parking is largely set to the sides of dwellings although
there is a single area of overlooked courtyard type parking in the north
east corner where there is a constraint due to electricity lines and a
buffer needed around a pumping station. Parking does not dominate
the streets. Dwellings turn corners by providing windows on the two
street elevations. This proposed layout provides continuity, enclosure,
legibility and landmarks. The proposal accords with principles DG27,
28, 29, 31, 33 and 39 of the Design Guide and core policies 37 and 38
of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1.

5.18

The s.106 agreement accompanying the outline permission requires
2,760 sq m of public open space to be provided. The proposal provides
approximately 3,500 sq m of attractive and useable open space within
the site. Most of this open space forms an attractive feature through the
site (north to south) and contains swales at its edges (I have not
included the swales in my open space calculation). The open space
extends to the northern site boundary which will allow a link to any
development to the north should that site be allocated for housing in
any adopted version of the Local Plan 2031 Part 2. Dwellings front
open spaces providing passive surveillance. The amount of open
space exceeds that required by the s106 and saved policy H23 of the
Local Plan 2011.

5.19

5.20

Residential Amenity
The Design Guide recommends a minimum distance of 21m between
facing habitable windows to prevent unreasonable overlooking. All
proposed dwellings are over 30m from habitable room windows in
existing houses to the west and east. ‘Back to back’ distances between
dwellings also meet the 21m guidance.
No unreasonable overlooking or overbearing impacts result and the
proposal complies with saved policy DC9 of the Local Plan 2011.

Car Parking
5.21 Adopted parking standards require 76 allocated spaces and 17
unallocated spaces. The parking standards allow unallocated spaces to
be reduced to improve design if necessary. In this case the allocated
parking spaces numbered on the plans and including garages, as they
are at least 6m x 3m, amount to 90 parking; 14 more than required.
Garages should be restricted from conversion to living accommodation
to ensure adequate on plot parking is retained in accordance with
parking standards. In addition, the plans have been amended to
increase unallocated parking spaces to 17 and this does not

Page 51

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

compromise the layout. The proposal complies with core policy 35 of
the Local Plan 2031 Part 1.

5.22

Scale
Scale relates to the height, width and length of each building proposed
within the development in relation to its surroundings. The proposed
dwellings are two-storeys which reflects unit sizes on the housing
development to the west. Heights to ridge range from 8.4m to 8.8m
which again reflects heights on the adjacent development. Narrow and
wide fronted house types are used to create variety. The scale of
development responds positively to existing development on the
eastern side of the A338 and is complaint with core policy 37 of the
Local Plan 2031 Part 1 and principle DG51 of the Design Guide 2015.

6.0

CONCLUSION

6.1

This application has been considered in accordance with the
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

6.2

The affordable housing mix accords with the s106 agreement
accompanying the outline permission and which remains applicable.
The groups of affordable dwellings are acceptable. The market housing
mix is close to the SHMA estimate and accords with policy.

6.3

The design of the scheme responds to comments made by an
independent urban design consultant instructed by the council. The
design responds to the character and appearance of housing on this
side of the A338. It accords with design policies and guidance in the
Local Plan 2031 Part 1 and Design Guide. Car parking meets adopted
parking standards. Adequate open space is provided in accordance
with the s106 agreement and saved policy H23 of the Local Plan 2011.
There is no adverse impact on living conditions for existing residents.

6.4

Vehicular access from Steventon Road and a pedestrian link to
Whitfield Gardens were all established at outline permission stage as
was the principle of development. Drainage is subject to conditions that
will need to be ‘discharged’ before development commences.

6.5

The detail of this scheme is largely acceptable but for landscaping
which in any event, is to be secured by condition imposed on the
outline permission. Other parts of the scheme can be made acceptable
through imposing conditions.

6.6

It is therefore, recommended that this proposal is approved.

The following planning policies have been taken into account:
VALE OF WHITE HORSE LOCAL PLAN 2031: PART 1 – CORE POLICIES 1,
2, 3, 4, 8, 22, 23, 24, 35, 36, 37, 38, 40, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46

Page 52

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

VALE OF WHITE HORSE LOCAL PLAN 2011 – SAVED POLICIES DC3,
DC5, DC6, DC7, DC9, DC20, H23, HE9, HE10, NE9
DRAFT VALE OF WHITE HORSE LOCAL PLAN 2031 PART 2 –AND
DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES 2, 16, 21, 23, 25, 28, 31 and 33
VALE OF WHITE HORSE DESIGN GUIDE 2015
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK
PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE
Case Officer – Adrian Butler
Email – adrian.butler@southandvale.gov.uk
Tel – (01235) 422600

Page 53

Appendix 1
CDM 2015 Health & Safety Information
Boundary trees maintained
in 3m buffer zone

This information relates only to 'Significant Hazards' identified on this drawing
and is to be read in conjunction with the Designer's Risk Assessment Register.

15m no-build zone around 10m x 12m
FW pumping station

1
2
3

Site to be adequately hoarded from all sides due to openess to boundaries
Existing trees to be retained to be protected during construction works
Existing building to be inspect by competent persons prior to demolition
for review of asbestos and condition
Utilities survey to be carried out prior top commencement of works
Foundations and retaining walls to be designed by engineer due to
relationship with removed trees
Precise locations of buried services, particularly sewers, should be
established by hand digging
Site logistics and security to be setup before commencement on site

4
5
6
7
11

Accommodation Schedule

Fallen willow

11

12
Type P
2BH

11
Type F
4BH

13
Type A
2BH

14

15

Type O
3BH

16

Type O
3BH

Type L
2BH

17

18

Type L
2BH

Type H
1BH

Open Market Dwellings (24no. - 60%):

Retained
Trees

10
Type C
3BH

19 18 17 16

9

12 12

13 13

14 14

Type H
1BH

15 15

V

V

Type E
4BH

V

House type H
House type H (Bay)
House type J
House type L
House type M
House type O
House type N

25
Type M
3BH

26
V

26

26

Type B
3BH

V
V

7
Type J
2B3P

27

27
Type A
2BH

28
7

Public
Open Space

6

6
Type J
2B3P

V

Type A
2BH

29

Page 54

V
5

5

22
Cycle Parking

Type E
4BH

36

21 20

34

3
Type E
4BH

36

35

Type C
3BH

Type C
3BH

14

6

V
3

2 spaces per dwelling generally in garages or garden stores

2BH

Type N
4BH

Blue dashed zone indicates
extent of HV cable
easement shown on DWG
provided
32

V

2 spaces per 1,2 & 3 Bedroom Dwellings
3 spaces per 4 Bedroom Semi-Detached Townhouse
4 spaces per 4 & 5 Bedroom Detached Houses

P3
P2
P1

21.06.18
19.06.18
15.03.18

Rev Date

Updated to Clients Comments
Updated Layout
Planning Submission
Revision Details

35

4

(1AR)
(1AR)
(4SO + 2AR)
(4AR)
(1AR)
(2AR)
(1AR)

20

V

Retained
Trees

V
4

58.1sqm / 625sqft
59.0sqm / 635sqft
70.0sqm / 753sqft
70.0sqm / 753sqft
84.0qm / 904sqft
84.0sqm/ 904sqft
93.6sqm/ 1007sqft

21 TypeJ

Public
Open Space

4

1no.
1no.
6no.
4no.
1no.
2no.
1no.

16no. Visitor Parking at 0.4 spaces per dwelling

22
21 20

Type B
3BH

V

5
Type J
2B3P

23

22 Type L
2BH

29

29

23

2BH

1-Bedroom Corner House
1-Bedroom Corner House
2-Bedroom House
2-Bedroom House
3-Bedroom House
3-Bedroom House
4-Bedroom House

40no. Dwellings

Car Parking

23 Type L

28

28

Total

Type J
2BH

24

27
V

V

79sqm / 850sqft
79sqm / 850sqft
95.3sqm / 1021sqft
93sqm / 1001sqft
94.0sqm/1011sqft
138.2sqm / 1487sqft
158.8sqm / 1709sqft
157.9sqm / 1703sqft

Affordable Dwellings (16no. - 40%):

LEAP

8
Type J
2B3P

3no.
1no.
2no.
8no.
2no.
4no.
3no.
1no.

24 24 25 25

9

Boundary trees maintained
in 3m buffer zone

2-Bedroom House
2-Bedroom House
3-Bedroom House (Corner)
3-Bedroom House
3-Bedroom House
4-Bedroom House
5-Bedroom House
5-Bedroom House (Corner)

19

V

10

FW
pumping
station

House type A
House type P
House type B
House type C
House type C (Bay)
House type E
House type F
House type G

NF
NF
NF

Dr

Ch

London: Unit 1 West Coate House 3 Coate Street
London E2 9AG
T 020 7729 5505 E london@ecearchitecture.com

31 30

33

Sussex:

34
Type C
3BH

LU
LU
NK

33
Type C
3BH

Brooklyn Chambers 11 Goring Road
Worthing West Sussex BN12 4AP
T 01903 248777 E sussex@ecearchitecture.com

32
Type C
3BH

31

www.ecearchitecture.com

30

Type C
3BH

Type C
3BH

37

3

Type G
4BH

2

2

38
39

Type F
4BH

Type F
4BH

V

Type C
3BH

38 38

39 39

Client's Name

Martin Grant Homes

40
Type C
3BH

Job Title
37 37

1

Former Steventon Road Nurseries,
Steventon Road, East Hanney

40

Type E
4BH

Drawing Title

1

Site Layout

1

4

Scale

1:500 @ A2
metres

ENT
STEV

ON

ROAD

10

20

Drawn

Checked

NF

AK

Job No

Drawing No

6409

N

30

001

40

50
Date

22.01.18
Rev

P3

Status

APPROVAL
CAD Plot date:

21/06/2018 - 14:43:54

6409 - site.dwg

CDM 2015 Health & Safety Information:

STEVENSON CLOSE

This information relates only to 'Significant Hazards' identified on this drawing
and is to be read in conjunction with the Designer's Hazard Register.

4

DA
ND

RID
11

CL

OS
E

6

GE

12 14

5

17

7

Drain

F

E

D

C

12

14
41

33

Page 55

GARDEN

S

17

31

WHITFIEL
D

22

Ppg
Sta

Pond

6

11

19

27

16

15

14

Tinkerbush Farm

59.9m
1

4

2

STEVENTON ROAD

60.7m

9

ESS

ETL

Drain

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2018. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

P1
Client's Name

Drawing Title

Drawn

Checked

Martin Grant Homes

Location Plan

NF

NK

Job No

Drawing No

Date

07.03.18

16.03.18

Rev Date

Planning Submission
Revision Details

NK

NF

Dr

Ch

London:

N

6409
Job Title

Scale

Former Steventon Road Nurseries,
Steventon Road, East Hanney

1:1250 @ A3
metres

LOC

Status

10

20

30

40

50

APPROVAL

Rev

P1

76 Great Suffolk Street
London, SE1 0BL
T 0207 928 2773 E london@ecearchitecture.com
Sussex:
Brooklyn Chambers, 11 Goring Road
Worthing, West Sussex, BN12 4AP
T 01903 248777 E sussex@ecearchitecture.com
Bristol:
Westworks, Colston Tower
Colston Street, Bristol, BS1 4XE
T 0117 214 1101 E bristol@ecewestworks.com

www.ecearchitecture.com
© ECE Architecture Limited. No dimensions to be scaled from drawing except for the purposes of Planning Applications. The contractor should check all dimensions on site. It is the contractors responsibility to ensure compliance with Building Regulations.

CAD Plot date: 16/03/2018 - 08:50:32

6409 - site.dwg

Agenda Item 8
Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

APPLICATION NO.
SITE
PARISH
PROPOSAL
WARD MEMBER(S)

APPLICANT
OFFICER

P18/V1179/CM
North of the A420 Botley Road to south of the A423
ring road
North Hinksey
A flood alleviation scheme to reduce flood risk in
Oxford.
Debby Hallett
Emily Smith
Edward Blagrove
Bob Johnston
Oxfordshire County Council
Adrian Butler

RECOMMENDATION
I recommend that the following comments are made to Oxfordshire
County Council:
1. This council has no objection in principle.
2. This council is concerned the proposals may have a negative
impact on biodiversity and could have an adverse impact on
Egrove Park Meadow Local Wildlife Site (LWS). The County
Council should seek additional information to:
 Clearly demonstrate that the overall result of the proposals
can deliver a net gain for biodiversity. To do this the
Environment Agency should use a biodiversity impact
calculator following the methodology developed by the
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs as part
of the biodiversity offsetting pilot scheme; and
 Information should be provided for the area around Egrove
Park Meadow LWS so that the conclusions in the
environmental statement (ES) can be checked and verified.
3. A revised heritage impact assessment should be submitted to
assess:
 The age and time layering of views. The heritage value of
trees in the views needs to be clearly ascertained and a
deeper understanding of views provided such that a
reasoned assessment and proposal methodology can be
followed. This would best be provided in a sequence of
historic map overlays with views clearly marked and which
should cover the JMW Turner views and those once
perceived by John Ruskin and his followers in North
Hinksey; and
 Explain how the case for tree removal and re-planting and
the position of new planting is arrived at with regard to the
proposed planting of 9.7ha of new woodland to replace up
to 398 individual trees or groups of trees; and

Page 56

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018



Research on the network of routes criss-crossing the
proposal site should be carried out such that their
significance nationally, regionally and locally can be better
understood and more effective proposals made for their
retention, enhancement and appreciation.

4. The landscape and visual assessment reassesses the impact of
the proposed scheme on North Hinksey Village and the area of
land between Botley Road and Willow walk and also the proposed
mitigation planting.
5. The proposed planting is revisited so it better reflects the local
landscape character and screens existing development
particularly that on Botley Road.
6. The design of the Willow Walk and Devils Backbone are revisited
to reduce their engineered appearance.
7. Should the County Council be minded to approve the application
at least the following planning conditions should be imposed to
require:
 A detailed landscaping scheme, its implementation, and
maintenance
 Alternative bridge designs and materials to be submitted
and agreed for Willow Walk and the Devil’s Backbone
crossings
 Restrict working to 07:30-18:00 Monday to Friday and 08:0013:00 on a Saturday; and no work to take place on Sundays
or Public Holidays
 Require a Construction Environmental Management Plan to
be agreed
 Require a Construction Traffic Management Plan to be
agreed
 The developer to notify the County Council of the presence
of any unsuspected contamination encountered during the
development. In the event of any contamination to the land
and/or water being encountered, no development shall
continue until a programme of investigation and/or remedial
works to include methods of monitoring and certification of
such works undertaken has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority.

1.0

INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL

1.1

This report relates to an application submitted to Oxfordshire County
Council which will be the determining authority. This council is a
consultee. Oxfordshire County Council has sought this council’s
comments on the proposals.

Page 57

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

1.2

The application has been submitted by the Environment Agency. The
proposal includes development north of Botley Road and east of
Seacourt park and ride, south of Botley Road and east of North
Hinksey, South Hinksey and Kennington. The development includes
land within this council’s and Oxford City Council’s jurisdictions. My
report relates only to development within the Vale of White Horse
District.

1.3

The Environment Agency summarise the proposal as follows:
“Construction of a new channel, between the A34 to the west and the
railway to the east, to the west of Oxford city centre. The channel will
extend for a length of approximately 5km, south-easterly from the
confluence of the Botley and Seacourt Streams lying approximately
0.6km north of Botley Road, to just south of Kennington (approximately
0.3km south of the A423 ring road). The new channel will carry excess
flow from the Seacourt Stream, Bulstake Stream and Hinksey Stream
channels during a flood event, thereby reducing the water level in the
main River Thames and so reducing the frequency of flooding in builtup areas.
The channel will comprise two stages:
o First stage channel – this will be the inner part of the channel
which will be permanently wet and carry flowing water all of
the time; and
o Second (or ’two-stage’) channel – this will be created by
lowering the ground between 1m and 1.5m to one or both
sides of the first stage channel. The second stage channel
will be dry for most of the time but when river levels are
sufficiently high, water will flow along the second stage
channel. This may occur regularly during wetter periods,
especially during the winter months. During large flood
events, the fields in the existing floodplain around the new
channel will also continue to be inundated...In some local
areas, a second stage channel will be constructed without a
first stage channel and vice versa;
 Provision of new flood defences (embankments and walls) to
protect properties which would otherwise continue to flood even
with the reduced river levels;
 Provision of new culverts and bridges to cross highways and
footpaths to maintain access routes;
 Installation of flood gates for access (under normal, non-flood
conditions) through the new defences noted above;
 Creation of new and/or improved habitat for flora, fauna and
fisheries, where it does not compromise flood defence or other
environmental features; and
 Removal of Towles Mill, in conjunction with a separate scheme
at the upstream end of the Seacourt Stream, this will facilitate
fish passage around Oxford for the first time in over a century.
The proposals will reduce the risk of flooding for around 1,500
properties and key infrastructure such as transport links and utilities”.

Page 58

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

1.4

An example cross section through the channels is shown below:

1.5

The works include new ‘flood protection’ embankments and a wall to
the north and eastern edges of South Hinksey with these varying in
height owing to land levels from about 0.5m to 3m.

1.6

It is anticipated the works will take some 3 years. Of the material
excavated some will be used in the flood defence works although some
364,128 cubic metres will be removed from the site to restoration sites
via the A34.

1.7

Main access routes to the site will be from the A34 via the Botley
Road/West Way, the South Hinksey interchange on the A34 and Old
Abingdon Road and the A4144 Abingdon Road. The site plan is
attached as Appendix 1.

2.0

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS AND
REPRESENTATIONS ON CURRENT SUBMISSION

2.1

A copy of all responses received will be sent to the County Council for
their consideration. Below is a summary of the responses received to
the current submission is below. A full copy of all the comments made
can be seen online at www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk
Conservation officer
Support in principle:
This is subject to the following details to either be provided predetermination or secured by condition:
 The provision of an updated and enhanced Heritage
Impact Assessment regarding views and referencing
Historic England’s Seeing History in the View and settings
guidance
 The provision of a Historic Routes Report relating to
Oxford City and routes from the west in the Vale in
particular
 Redesign of the bridge at Willow Walk to achieve a more

Page 59

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018



sensitive solution better tailored to the rural location
Details of the materials and finishes of Willow Walk and
the other bridges

The conservation officer advises that she would have preferred
to have first seen evidence of traditional methods of water
management- hedging, ditching, stream clearance etc having
been tried and tested and found to be wanting before the
application for a much larger scheme with more widespread
consequences for the built and natural environments.
Countryside officer
Comments:
These comments relate specifically to the impacts of the
proposals on important habitats within the area of the scheme
falling within the district.
The applicant needs to clearly demonstrate that the overall
result of the proposals can deliver a net gain for biodiversity in
accordance with the main aims of the scheme and core policy
46 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1.
The accepted way of achieving this is to use a Biodiversity
Impact Calculator following the methodology developed by Defra
as part of the Biodiversity Offsetting pilot scheme. Using this
calculator results in a + (net gain) or - (net loss) figure expressed
in biodiversity units.
The information presented in table 8.4 of the Environmental
Statement (ES) does not follow this format and does not provide
evidence of the likely outcome of the scheme in a format that is
widely understood. The information will need to include the
details of the calculations so that these can be verified. In
addition, information should be provided for the area around
Egrove Park Meadow LWS so that the conclusions in the ES
can be checked and verified.
Landscape officer
Comments:
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment
The scheme will result in the loss of the majority of planting and
trees located on the western side of Botley Road Retail Park.
This planting helps reduce the impact of buildings on the
Seacourt Nature Reserve, and the land to the south towards
Willow Walk. It also helps soften views eastwards from North
Hinksey Village across the Greenbelt and Flood Plain to the
eastern edge of Oxford.
The submitted Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment does
not cover the impact of the loss of these trees in both Landscape

Page 60

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

Character and Visual Impact terms. There is no proposal to
replace the loss of these trees and vegetation in the planting
plans at the western and south-western corner of the Botley
Road Retail Park. Although there are proposals for woodland
planting on the southern side of the business park, again the
majority of existing vegetation is removed opening views to
these units until the woodland establishes. Replacement
planting is needed.
The submitted viewpoints do not represent the full changes in
the area. They are predominately angled down the scheme
southwards, with no reverse views of viewpoints such as 6 and 7
to illustrate the impacts on views to the north and east and the
proposed interface with Botley Road Retail Park.
The LVIA also does not fully cover the impacts of the scheme for
North Hinksey Village. The representative viewpoint from
Hinksey Lane is taken from a location where the road drops
close to the streamside vegetation, rather than the higher
section of the road to the north, which illustrate more open views
across the allotments, the Greenbelt and the flood alleviation
area to Botley Road Retail Park The removal of vegetation on
the eastern side of the watercourse will also have an impact of
the openness of this view.
Planting Scheme
The proposed planting scheme does not reflect the proposed
character and existing character of the Flood Alleviation
Scheme.
More variation in the planting mixes is needed to represent
different types of woodland such as wet woodland. i.e. neither of
the proposed woodland mix or woodland edge mix contains any
proposed willow species. The proposed hedgerow mix contains
a better distribution of species that I would expect to see in the
woodland edge mix.
The choice of specimen species planted close to the proposed
watercourses are not species that are traditionally associated
with watercourses such as Acer pseudoplatanus, Sycamore. A
number of ash are proposed which is not a species that is
currently recommended for planting.
The landscape character assessment of the area picks up the
east/ west features of the site including hedgerows and
vegetation lines, many of these will be lost with the implement of
the two-stage channel. However, there are areas of tree and
shrub planting proposed associated with the channels, currently
these are evenly distributed but there may be possibilities to
cluster the proposed planting to echo the lost sections of

Page 61

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

hedgerows.
Bridges
The proposed bridges for Willow Walk and Devils Backbone, will
have an impact on the character of these footpath routes.
 The width of the bridge at 7.4m is considerably wider that
the current footpath route. While the change is openness
is result of passing over the flood channel and cannot be
mitigated the additional excessive change in width will
have a negative change in route character and could be
adjusted.
 The proposed design of the bridge with raised concrete
upstands on which the railings are bolted with an
associated 1.1m wide kerbed verge results in a very
engineered appearance to the bridge compared to a
bridge with a simple deck profile which allows a much
better visual relationship from the bridge to the landscape
in which the bridge is set and reducing the change in the
character of the footpath.
Other Comments
 The text refers to the use of palisade fencing, if weldmesh
fencing could be used in its place, this is less industrial in
character and more visually recessive.
 South Hinksey flood walls, the faces are proposed to be
clad in Cotswold stone but blue brick bullnose coping.
Could the materials of the coping be looked at to be more
sympathetic with the Cotswold stone facing.
 Nearly all grading throughout the scheme is proposed
with 1 in 3 slopes. Variation in the slopes grading would
help with the integration of the features into the adjacent
landscape.
Recommendation:
 The Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment has not
adequately explored the impact of the proposed
development on the Landscape Character and Visual
Impacts with regards the section of land between the
Botley Road and Willow Walk including North Hinksey
Village.
 The proposed planting scheme is inappropriate with
regards to the species choice and location of planting.
 The designs of the Willow Walk and Devils Backbone
bridge are inappropriate.
Forestry Officer
No comments received.
Environmental protection team (noise)

Page 62

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

Recommends working hours are restricted to 07:30-18:00
Monday to Friday and 08:00-13:00 on a Saturday; and no work
to take place on Sundays or Public Holidays.
Health and Housing
Recommends conditions:
 incorporating a dust management plan within a
Construction Environmental Management Plan
 contractors to use only Euro VI vehicles or better and in
accordance with a Construction Traffic Management Plan
agreed by the relevant highway authorities, which
includes avoidance of peak traffic hours.
Health and Housing (contaminated land)
Recommends a condition:
 The developer shall confirm in writing to the Local
Planning Authority the presence of any unsuspected
contamination encountered during the development. In
the event of any contamination to the land and/or water
being encountered, no development shall continue until a
programme of investigation and/or remedial works to
include methods of monitoring and certification of such
works undertaken has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.
Residents and interest groups
Letters have been received from five local residents or
representatives of interest groups. Their objections may be
summarised as follows:
 The proposal and felling of 17 trees will destroy the rural
feel of Willow Walk as a walkway and amenity
 Felling of scores of trees beside Seacourt Stream will
open an industrial estate to views to local residents
 Bridge for Willow Walk is too large
 Waterways should be dredged
 Something better and more cost effective could be
designed
 The scheme will still result in Osney Island flooding in 1 in
a 100-year peak flooding event. Other areas such as the
entrances to Seacourt park and ride, Botley allotments
and Bridge Street will all flood in lesser flood events
 Flood defences need to be critically examined
 An extension to Seacourt park and ride needs to be
modelled
 A pinch point under Old Abingdon Road will lead to water
pooling as the pinch point can only flow at around 35
cubic metres a second
 Alternatives need to be considered including removing
the secondary channel

Page 63

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018


























A secondary channel is experimental and untried in the
UK
An alternative removing the channel but installing the rest
of the scheme would still offer protection for most
properties but cost half as much - arguments for
dismissing this alterative are weak
Economic costs of omitting the channel have not been
provided
Excavating the channel in the Green Belt results in taller
bridges, more access roads which will disrupt established
views
Excavating the channel will have a negative impact on
biodiversity, as will the loss of existing waterways to the
south
New habitats could be invaded by masses of the same
species
Scheme takes up 2ha of historic flood meadow at
Hinksey Meadow and threatens the whole 10ha flood
meadow
A proposed 10ha meadow will take 60-80 years to
become established but is used by the Environment
Agency as an important part of its calculation of net
increase in biodiversity
Some 4,000 trees will be lost with a major effect on the
landscape and for wildlife and other plants
Critical tree works should be subject to a condition that
they are supervised by a qualified arboriculturalist with
the aim of saving as many as possible
Question whether the proposal is sustainable
development
Doesn’t take account of the Green Belt location or protect
it
Alternative temporary public access should be provided
whilst Willow Walk bridge is replaced
Bridge design should be suitable for pedestrian, cyclist
and equestrian use
No flood risk assessment submitted
Loss of best and most versatile land
Loss of trees, hedges, water courses, water features,
water meadows
Impact on minerals
Traffic movements are a concern
Impact on an equestrian business
Question the number of houses that might be protected.
This could be significantly less than claimed
Contrary to the Local Plan 2031 Part 1, Minerals and
Waste Local Plan and possibly legislation

Page 64

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

3.0

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

3.1

P17/V1752/PEM - Other Outcome (25/07/2017)
Request for pre-planning application advice by the Environment
Agency for the Oxford Flood Alleviation Scheme - Land Raising at
Land South of Hinksey Heights

3.2

P17/V1751/PEM - Other Outcome (21/07/2017)
Request for pre-planning application advice by the Environment
Agency for the Oxford Flood Alleviation Scheme at Land from North of
Botley Road to New Hinksey in the parishes of North Hinksey, South
Hinksey and Kennington.

4.0

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA)

4.1

The application is supported by an Environmental Impact Assessment
which covers at least the following topics:
 Biodiversity
 Heritage
 Landscape and visual
 Traffic and transport
 Recreation and public access
 Air quality
 Noise and vibration

5.0

MAIN ISSUES

5.1

Planning considerations include:
1. The principle of the Development
2. Heritage Assets
3. Biodiversity
4. Landscape and Visual
5. Trees
6. Air Quality
7. Land Contamination

5.2

Traffic and transport will be an important consideration. This council
does not have highway engineers; it is reliant on County Council
highway engineers for advice. Therefore, I do not intend to address this
issue but will leave it to the County Council to be informed by its own
highway officers. Likewise, in respect of public rights of way I note the
temporary closures and diversions and some permanent closures. The
County Council has rights of way officers who will advise on them
matter.

5.3

5.4

The Principle of the Development
There are no specific policies in this council’s Local Plan that relate to
the principle of this type of development. Core policy 1 of the Local
Plan 2031 Part 1 will support sustainable development.
The NPPF sets out three dimensions for sustainable development
being its economic, environmental and social roles.

Page 65

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

5.5

The proposal has an economic role with job creation (some 100 jobs
according to the Environment Agency). There will be significant
expenditure in the economy through contracts for the works. The
proposal has an economic role.

5.6

The council’s countryside officer has expressed some doubts about the
scheme improving biodiversity. The proposal seeks to re-use
excavated materials in the scheme although a significant amount of
material will need to be removed from the site using HGV’s. Traffic
generation and resultant pollution can have a negative environmental
impact. Impacts for heritage assets are largely negligible or less than
substantial although for archaeology beneath the Old Abingdon Road
bridge, the effect is substantial. The proposal has a significant
environmental role to make in seeking to mitigate flooding and in
seeking to adapt for climate change.

5.7

The proposal has a significant social role in seeking to mitigate flood
events for local residents and businesses. It can provide improved
recreational opportunities whilst safeguarding existing rights of way.

5.8

It is considered the proposal can constitute sustainable development
which in principle can be supported by core policy 1 of the Local Plan
2031 Part 1.

5.9

The site is within the Green Belt. Whilst the mineral extraction and
engineering operations may not be considered inappropriate
development in the Green Belt (paragraph 90 of the NPPF), some of
the buildings e.g. bridges could be interpreted as inappropriate
development in the Green Belt. The Environment Agency has
presented special circumstances to justify the proposal including the
need and benefits of the flood alleviation scheme itself which include
flood protection for some 3,431 homes, businesses and main transport
routes within Oxford.

5.10

The Green Belt exists to serve five purposes:
I.
To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;
II. To prevent neighbouring towns merging;
III. To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
IV. To preserve the setting and special character of historic towns;
V. To assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of
derelict and other urban land.

5.11

I do not consider the proposals conflict with these aims. Special
circumstances have been demonstrated and the proposal is
considered to comply with core policy 13 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1
and the NPPF.

Page 66

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

5.12

5.13

Heritage Assets
The proposal, as acknowledged in the heritage statement supporting
the application would visually and physically alter the character of the
historic landscape and impact on the setting of numerous heritage
assets including listed buildings, conservation areas of North and
South Hinksey and scheduled monument at Old Abingdon Road.
Historic routes together with views to and from Oxford city and inwards
and outwards from North Hinksey and South Hinksey would also be
impacted. The harm has been identified as less than substantial apart
from the impacts on archaeology at Old Abingdon Road, where
substantial harm has been identified. The County Council needs to
apply significant weight to these impacts in determining the application.
Over time the application site has changed and would evolve still more
under the flood alleviation scheme. The removal of trees for example
from the banks opposite North and South Hinksey and along Willow
Walk would open up views over the flood plain and between heritage
assets. This could be a positive change from the point of view of
opening up historic views. Conversely, tree removal might open up less
desirable views into industrial estates and built up areas and rather
than bring enhancements, detract. Therefore, the age and time
layering of views and heritage/trees in the views needs to be clearly
ascertained and a deeper understanding of views provided in an
updated Heritage Impact Assessment such that a reasoned
assessment and proposal methodology can be followed. This would
best be provided in a sequence of historic map overlays with views
clearly marked. Significant views to assess include:



JMW Turner views; and,
Those once perceived by John Ruskin and his followers in North
Hinksey

5.14

New footbridges primarily with wood decking and with galvanised steel
uprights with a hardwood timber edge in neutral colour are proposed. It
is considered a simpler pallet of materials avoiding the exposed use of
galvanised steel could be used to retain the semi-rural character of the
area.

5.15

To protect the settings of the North and South Hinksey conservation
areas the flood meadows that are appreciated from Willow Walk and
other bridges and renowned for their species rich grassland need to be
protected.

5.16

Historic routes are identified and proposed to be retained. However,
the west/east routes into and out of Oxford have the potential to reveal
more about the early settlement of Oxford, trade, communications etc.
As part of the understanding to be gained during the course of this
scheme research on the network of routes criss-crossing the proposal
site should be carried out such that their significance nationally,

Page 67

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

regionally and locally can be better understood and more effective
proposals made for their retention, enhancement and appreciation.

5.17

Biodiversity
Two Local Wildlife Sites are situated within the Vale area of the
application site these being Kennington Pool and Egrove Park
Meadow. Kennington Pool will be significantly impacted by the
proposals resulting in the loss of approximately 52% of the current site
area. The remainder of the site is proposed to be enhanced through
habitat management works, although this will not compensate for the
overall loss of habitat.

5.18

It is unclear from the information provided what the impacts of the
proposals would be on Egrove Park Meadow. The only reference found
in the submission suggests that it is immediately adjacent to a haul
route. Other sections of the route within the district will lead to the loss
of a variety of priority habitats including floodplain grazing marsh,
lowland mixed deciduous woodland, priority habitat semi-improved
neutral grassland and wet woodland.

5.19

Core Policy 46 of the Local Plan Part 1 calls for development proposals
to achieve a net gain in biodiversity if possible but as a minimum to
avoid a net loss. It is therefore reasonable to conclude that if the overall
scheme can achieve a net gain then the losses at individual sites and
habitats are acceptable as the scheme will deliver greater biodiversity
benefits in the long run.

5.20

Unfortunately, the Environmental Statement (ES) does not provide
sufficient evidence to demonstrate that the scheme can deliver a net
gain for biodiversity, in fact it is not possible given the evidence
presented in chapter 8.2.2 and table 8.4 of the ES to determine if the
scheme can avoid a net loss of biodiversity. If the figures presented in
table 8.4 are totalled, then the proposals would cause a loss of 61.07ha
of important habitats and only create an additional 53.25 ha of new
habitats. In addition, there would be a loss of 1,140 metres of
hedgerow. This suggests that the proposals would result in an overall
net loss of biodiversity.

5.21

5.22

Landscape and Visual
Saved policy NE8 gives priority to preserving Oxford’s landscape
setting and seeks to resist development that harms the landscape
setting or obscure or detract from an important view of the skyline of
collegiate Oxford particularly with in the views cones identified in the
Local Plan 2011.
A view cone exists to the west of South Hinksey which allows views
eastwards across the application site to Oxford’s spires. Construction
of the flood alleviation scheme will result in earth movements, storage,
machinery and welfare buildings being on site together with access
roads. These will be visible in the foreground to middle ground of views

Page 68

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

eastwards although views tend to be over the application site towards
the spires. There will be a temporary negative impact for the views
during construction works. Following construction views will be
maintained and potentially improved with the loss of trees.
5.23

The arboricultural statement accompanying the application advises 300
trees and 52 tree groups are proposed for removal with a further 25
tree groups partially removed. Of these it is advised that 163 trees and
six tree groups are removed as they are unsuited to long-term
retention. Loss of trees could open views towards the centre of Oxford
better revealing its heritage assets. New tree planting is needed
including against the commercial units on Botley Road. Subject to
appropriate landscaping that can be secured by condition the scheme
can be made saved policy NE8 compliant.

5.24

The site is criss-crossed by public rights of way and there are views
over the site from local roads. The construction works will have a
significant landscape and visual effect over a three-year period. This is
unavoidable for a scheme of this magnitude.

5.25

The September 2017 Landscape Character Assessment (LCA) for the
district identifies that part of the application site in this district as
primarily within the Landscape Character type “River Floodplain (RF5) North Hinksey to Radley Thames River Floodplain”. Positive landscape
features identified in the LCA include:









5.26

Pastoral, largely peaceful landscapes, along the meandering
watercourses of the Thames, Ock, and their tributaries.
Open water bodies.
Varying widths of low-lying river floodplains.
Sparsely settled, with a limited number of roads and small
groups of traditional dwellings located at river crossings.
Elsewhere, the River Floodplain provides a setting to built up
areas.
Riparian vegetation and land use, such as waterside meadows,
wet woodland, and occasional marsh and fen habitats.
A network of ditches with ditch line willows and alder.
Historic river crossings, including listed bridges.
Waterborne recreation

The landscape strategy for this area is to conserve the rural, secluded
areas of landscape with its river channels, pasture, and wetlands, and
resist further encroachment of development along the edges of the
Thames and Ock towards the east of the District. Forces for
change/sensitivities/pressures include the following:
 Decline in active management of meadows and pasture on the
floodplain and conversion to arable farming
 Poor maintenance and loss of field boundaries, resulting in gaps
in hedgerows.

Page 69

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018







Lack of pollarding and loss of boundary willows.
Extensive gravel extraction with restoration at various stages.
Encroachment from urban edge development along the edges of
settlements within the east of the District.
Increased demand for moorings.
Overhead pylons crossing the area

5.27

The scheme does not result in urban edge encroachment, increased
demand for moorings or staged restoration of gravel extraction works.

5.28

It will be important to ensure the scheme does not result in a decline in
the management of meadows and pasture and particularly that
meadow land is adequately replaced if not enhanced. An opportunity
exists to replace hedges lost and to fill existing gaps, to enhance and
restore riparian vegetation, individual riverbank trees, blocks of
woodland and improve new access links for leisure. Any potential for
pylon and overhead line removal should be taken.

5.29

Overall, the scheme provides an opportunity for landscape benefits and
can be made core policies 37, 38 and 44 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1
and saved policies DC6 and NE8 complaint through the imposition of
conditions or the County Council seeking revisions to the existing
scheme such as biodiversity enhancements, land management,
appropriate planting, revised bridge design.

5.30

5.31

5.32

Air Quality
The air quality assessment submitted in support of the application has
identified that the site is adjacent to two Air Quality Management Areas
in both Vale of White Horse and Oxford City. The principle potential air
quality impacts associated with the scheme relate to the construction
phase when there will be significant excavation and substantial HGV
movements necessary to carry spoil from the site. It is expected that
the construction will be limited to three years duration, when
construction and any ongoing air quality impacts will cease.
The principle pollutants of concern are nitrogen dioxide from extra
traffic, dust and PM10. The modelling has concluded that PM10
impacts will be imperceptible and NO2 will show a small increase at
some locations including the Botley AQMA during the construction
phase. However, mitigation has been suggested. The small negative
impacts can be limited by condition and will be time limited by the
duration of construction works. However, it is noted that these
predictions may overestimate actual impacts, due to reduced levels of
operation in the winter. The proposal is considered compliant with
saved policy DC9 of the Local Plan 2011.
Land Contamination
The proposed development involves the creation a new channel
section passing through the Kennington Road West and East landfills.
The applicant will need to ensure that any associated risks of pollution

Page 70

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

incidents are managed as well as the potential for creating potential
pollution pathways.
5.33

The scheme design assumes that all excavated made ground and any
contaminated materials will be removed and disposed of off-site. The
Contaminated Land Assessment and Outline Remediation Strategy
Report highlights that the channel through the landfills will be
lined/sheet-piled to be near impermeable, so it is unlikely that there
would be a direct new pathway created between any leachate in the
landfills and the new channel.

5.34

The report recommends that water quality monitoring should be
completed to establish pre-construction baseline information that can
be used to determine any construction phase monitoring and
control/trigger levels required to identify any significant change. In
addition, it is recommended that a watching brief is undertaken for
potential contaminative material during excavations, with an
appropriate sampling regime to test suspected contaminated materials.

5.35

To ensure that any unsuspected contamination during the development
is suitably assessed the condition set out in the relevant
representations section above should be imposed. The proposal is
considered to comply with saved policy DC9 of the Local Plan 2011.

6.0

CONCLUSION

6.1

The principle of development is considered acceptable. However, there
is potential for adverse biodiversity, heritage and landscape impacts
The County Council as determining authority should request additional
information to enable full consideration of the potential implications.

6.2

Should the County Council be minded to approve the scheme
conditions should be imposed including those set out in this
recommendation.

Guidance and planning policies in the following documents have been
considered:
VALE OF WHITE HORSE LOCAL PLAN 2031: PART 1 – CORE POLICIES 1,
7, 13, 33, 34, 35, 37, 38, 39, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46
VALE OF WHITE HORSE LOCAL PLAN 2011 – SAVED POLICIES DC5,
DC6, DC9, DC12, DC20, HE1, HE4, HE9, HE10, HE11, NE7, NE8
DRAFT VALE OF WHITE HORSE LOCAL PLAN 2031 PART 2 – CORE
POLICY 13a AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES 15, 20, 22, 24, 25, 26,
27, 29, 30, 35, 36, 37 and 38
VALE OF WHITE HORSE DESIGN GUIDE 2015

Page 71

Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 1 August 2018

OXFORDSHIRE MINERALS AND WASTE LOCAL PLAN SEPTEMBER 2017
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK
PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE
Case Officer – Adrian Butler
Email – adrian.butler@southandvale.gov.uk
Tel – (01235) 422600

Page 72

Appendix 1

P18/V1179/CM – Site Plan

Page 73

Agenda Item 9
Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

APPLICATION NO.
SITE
PARISH
PROPOSAL

WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
OFFICER

P18/V0113/FUL
Land to the East of Portway Cottages, Reading
Road, East Hendred, Wantage, OX12 8JD
East Hendred
Variation of Condition 8 of P15/V2560/FUL to
remove the requirement for bus stops and
associated works on the A417 and replace the
requirement for a Toucan type pedestrian
crossing to a Puffin type crossing as per
technical safety audit from OCC Highways
Authority.
Proposed residential development of 46
dwellings (as amended by drawings and
information accompanying agent's emails of 8
April 2016, 25 May 2016, 12 and 22 August
2016).
Michael Murray
Graham Flint
Charlotte Brewerton

RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that this application be granted planning permission
with the following conditions attached and subject to a deed of variation.
Officers note that pre-commencement conditions have been discharged
on the original application and that works at this site have been completed
for the crossing. Therefore the following conditions will be required to be
implemented as per those details submitted and approved in writing by
application P17/V0251/DIS.
1 : Time limit (full application).
2 : Approved plans.
3 : Roads and footpaths prior to occupation.
4 : Construction traffic management plan.
5 : Hours of work.
6 : Protection of archaeological features.
7 : Archaeological watching brief.
8 : Access.
9 : Off site highways works.
10 : Car parking area.
11 : Bicycle parking.
12 : Noise.
13 : Landscaping scheme (implementation).
14 : Tree protection.
15 : Maintenance of open space/play areas.

Page 74

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

16 : Materials (samples).
17 : Sustainable drainage scheme.
18 : Boundary details in accordance with plan.
19 : Slab levels (dwellings).
20 : No windows or rooflights (dwelling).
21 : Obscured glazing (opening).
1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL

1.2

The site, which lies within the parish of East Hendred, is currently under
construction for 46 dwellings following planning permission P15/V2560/FUL. All
pre-commencement conditions have been discharged (P17/V0251/DIS). The
site lies within the Lowland Vale landscape designation, with the North Wessex
Downs Area of Outstanding boundary marked by the southern edge of the
A417, opposite the site. A site location plan can be seen below:

1.3

This current application seeks to vary condition 8 of planning permission
P15/V2560/FUL for the development of 46 dwellings on land to the East of
Portway Cottages, Reading Road, East Hendred.

1.4

Condition 8 of application P15/V2560/FUL sought off site highways works to be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
original permitted scheme included bus stops with associated infrastructure
and a Toucan type crossing with a cycle/footway along the southern side of the
A417. Oxfordshire County Council, as Highways Authority, requested the
crossing type and requested that the details be secured by condition.

1.5

Details of the proposed footway were submitted by the applicant during the
application process and showed a shared footway and cycleway on the
southern side of the road. However when the technical drawings for these
works were submitted to Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) and OCC
considered the Road Safety Audit Stage 1/2 dated 18 March 2017 OCC

The application comes to the committee because it is a major application and
the parish council object.

Page 75

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

concluded that on safety grounds a Toucan type crossing (designed for both
cyclists and pedestrians) was not appropriate in this location. In reaching this
conclusion OCC considered the fact that due to the boundary wall of Mather
House abutting the approved pavement. The maximum available highway land
is 2m wide and that there would be safety concerns if pedestrian and cyclists
were to use this as a shared surface. Consequently a pedestrian footway and
a Puffin crossing (designed for pedestrians only) would be the safer option
1.6

A similar application (P17/V2002/FUL) to vary Condition 8 of planning
application P15/V2560/FUL was considered and refused at Planning
Committee on 13 November 2017 where committee considered that the
provision of a 2 metre wide footway would create a highway issue. The
applicant withdrew this application prior to determination and the consideration
of the 2m wide footpath does not form part of the current application as this
footpath has already been approved at this width under the original planning
permission P15/V2560/FUL There is to be no change to this pathway as
approved only that it will now no longer be a shared footway/cycleway but
rather for use by pedestrians only, thereby improving the situation and safety of
the pathway for users. Cyclists will have to dismount and walk along this
stretch. This requirement has come from OCC Highways Authority and their
Safety Audit Team.

1.7

The change from a Toucan crossing to a Puffin crossing is included in the
current application although a crossing has already been approved in this
location under P15/V2560/FUL and there are no changes proposed to the
crossing location. Offsite highway works have already been completed for a
crossing in this location in accordance with the S.278 agreement between OCC
and the developer in December 2017. A copy of the approved S278 is
attached at Appendix 2.These works connect the Pye 3 site to White Road
and include realignment of the road and the construction of the 2m wide
footway on the southern side of the A417 and an upgrade to the pavement at
the top of White Road which allows pedestrians to cross safely and onto the
signalised crossing leading to Pye sites 1 and 2. A plan which shows these
works in detail is attached at Appendix 1.

1.8

Given that there are no changes to the existing planning permission for this
crossing planning permission is not required to seek the changes being sought
from downgrading its type. While the agent has included the crossing details in
the description of the application the details concerned with the crossing have
already been approved via the submission of details to OCC Road Safety
Team and a statement from OCC is attached for information at Appendix
3.The permitted crossing became usable as of 15 June 2018 with the lights
being in operation and the speed limit of this road downgraded to 30mph. The
changes to this crossing involve the type of switches that are to be placed upon
the signalised crossing poles, the signage and markings on the road and these
details can be approved as part of the offsite highways team safety audit. The
details only need to be submitted to the Planning Department to be signed off
as per condition 8 of the permitted scheme in consultation with the Highways
Team. In addition, these details form part of the S278 Agreement.

Page 76

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

1.9

The current application like the previous withdrawn application, seeks the
removal of the bus stops along the A417. These bus stops are a legal
requirement within the S106 entered into as part of the original permission and
officers must consider the impact of their loss in this location.

1.10

The S106 sets out the obligations of Pye Homes in the build out of this site.
Should this application be considered acceptable then the Developer will be
required to enter into a deed of variation with the Council to ensure that the
existing obligations continue subject to any variation resulting from an
approval of this current application

2.0
2.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
A summary of the responses received is set out below. Comments made can
be viewed in full online at www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk
East Hendred Parish Council

Object
 Removal of bus stops creates
a longer, unsafe passage for
cyclists and pedestrians
 All village facilities are to the
south of A417 so will be
heavily used and safe
passage is paramount
 Full safety Audit should be
carried out that is more
extensive than that proposed
by RSA.
 Small differences to scheme
but net affect has serious
implications for bus
passengers, cyclists and
pedestrians.

Oxfordshire County Council Single No objection subject to conditions.
Response
 In the wider context the
location of bus stops are
better served by being located
elsewhere and associated
with another development, but
in walking distance to this
site.
 Space does not safely permit
for a Toucan type pedestrian
crossing and the main issue is
that safe passage is facilitated
across the A417 and this can
be done through a Puffin type
crossing.

Page 77

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

Additional comments received after
having read EHPC comments and
PBA report:
No Objections

SGN Plant Protection Team

Neighbours

3.0
3.1



The main point of concern is
the streetscape interaction
between the s278 works for
the crossing and the location
of the bus stop.



Through the s278 process
Road Safety Auditing (RSA) is
undertaken and appropriate
design modifications made,
within the general principles,
as established through the
planning process.

No strong views.
 gas pipes are not within the
digging zone of the crossing
and off site highways works.
Object (2)
 Support for cycling
 change in path will aid
congestion by increasing car
use
 increase in pollution and
slowing of traffic on A417
 non-compliance with previous
refusal
 outstanding discharge of
conditions
 bus stops are necessary in
this location
 dangerous crossing
 minimum site lines for 30mph
not 40mph as signage along
road suggests.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
P17/V0251/DIS - Approved (06/09/2017)
Discharge of Conditions: 3 - levels, 4 - external construction materials, 5 boundaries, 6 - landscaping, 7 - arboricultural method statement, 8 - off-site
highway works, 9 - Travel Plan Statement and Information Pack, 10 Construction Traffic Management Plan, 11 - drainage scheme, 12 - drainage
strategy, 13 - bicycle parking and bin storage, 14 - Archaeological Written
Scheme of Investigation, 15 - Archaeological mitigation, 16 - traffic noise
mitigation, 17 - windows to Plot 17 and 18 - open space and children's play

Page 78

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

area on planning permission P15/V2560/FUL - Proposed residential
development of 46 dwellings
P17/V0324/NM - Approved (08/03/2017)
Non material amendment to application ref. P15/V2560/FUL(Proposed
residential development of 46 dwellings) to omit carports provided for plots 2-6
and substituting carports with garages to plots 23-26, 31-34 and 35-42 (As
amended by Drawing Nos: 2836.200 Rev L, .212 Rev D, .213 Rev D and .220
Rev F to increase the size of new garages)
P15/V2560/FUL - Approved (15/11/2016)
Proposed residential development of 46 dwellings (As amended by drawings
and information accompanying agent's emails of 8 April 2016, 25 May 2016, 12
and 22 August 2016)
P16/V0235/O - Refused (30/09/2016)
Outline planning application for the erection of 75 dwellings (10 of which will be
specialist accommodation for older people), communal hub for older persons
accommodation, retention of the existing Bed and Breakfast and associated
open space, with all matters reserved (as clarified by amended application
forms accompanying agent's letter of 6 April 2016 that confirms this application
seeks outline planning permission with all matters reserved and as further
clarified by information accompanying agent's letter of 12 May 2016 and
amended by Drawings accompanying agent's letter of 7 July 2016)
P15/V2328/O - Refused (21/01/2016) - Appeal allowed (18/04/2017)
Outline planning application for the erection of 75 dwellings (10 of which will be
specialist accommodation for older people), communal hub for older person’s
accommodation, retention of the existing Bed and Breakfast and associated
open space, with all matters reserved save for that of access.
4.0
4.1

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.0
5.1

MAIN ISSUES

5.2

Highway safety
On submission of the Section 278 agreement to Oxfordshire County Council
Highways Team it became apparent from the Road Safety Audit that the
inclusion of bus stops along the A417 would cause safety concerns and conflict
with the proposed toucan type crossing from Pye 3 development to the village
of East Hendred.

Not required as the development is not within a sensitive location, fewer than
150 dwellings and less than 5Ha.

The main considerations in the determination of this application are:
 whether removal of the bus stops would adversely affect the highway
network or inconvenience future occupants of the approved
application site known as Pye 3, for 46 dwellings;

Page 79

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

5.3

In discussion with OCC the applicant (Pye Homes) has sought the removal of
the bus stops within the immediate vicinity of Pye site Phase 3, an obligation
that was required from a signed S106.

5.4

It is understood from having spoken with OCC that the bus companies
travelling along the A417 at present have diverted their existing bus routes from
the A417 (when coming from Didcot to Wantage) and into the village itself. This
is a temporary measure whilst the ongoing developments at Harwell and Milton
take place and will be remedied within 12 months’ time. Currently, there are no
bus services that stop along A417 in close proximity to the Pye developments.

5.5

The committee report of application P15/V2560/FUL noted (at para 6.64) that
‘The A417 is also an important public transport corridor, linking Wantage to
Harwell. The Highways Authority have requested a proportionate contribution
to the improvement of bus services along the A417 and this is again
considered necessary as part of the mitigation of this scheme. Furthermore,
bus stops on the A417 serving the site will be needed”.

5.6

The situation has not changed, Officers agree that with the additional
residential sites currently being built along A417 additional public transport
infrastructure is required.

5.7

The Parish Council have submitted their comments alongside having a
consultant consider their issues. Peter Brett Associates (PBA) have stated that
a point of concern is ‘Now that there have been changes to the (highway)
scheme, there will be different operational requirements on the highway, and
the safety of the proposals should now be considered afresh.’

5.8

At the present time there are existing bus stops along White Road and further
within the village itself. In the medium and longer term, it is expected that some
buses will revert to travelling straight along A417. Once it is known when this
will happen, the County Council will install a pair of bus stops on A417, to the
west of the White Road junction. These will be funded using developer
contributions held from the adjacent ‘Pye 2’ site. In addition to these monies
there is also funding from the Greensands development via an obligation
sought through a signed S106. It is intended that as the Greensands site
comes forward, contributions from that site will be used to provide bus stops,
further east along A417. Therefore, two different sets of bus stops will be
provided for along this stretch of road to provide for all future residents of the
Pye development sites 1, 2 and 3 and the Greensands development as it
comes forward.

5.9

The Featherbed Lane Improvement Scheme (P15/V0774/LDP) will provide a
new roundabout junction on A417 and the bus stops would be located to the
west of this junction to ensure that they are within walking distance of all new
developments.

5.10

OCC responded on the previous application (P17/V2002/FUL) that whilst the
buses are running on a temporary route, during the build out of these sites and

Page 80

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

the reconfiguration of the road, the bus stops cannot be implemented safely
within the immediate vicinity of this development. Whilst it is noted that
additional bus services will be needed along this stretch of road, the bus
infrastructure sought as part of the Pye 3 development would be an
overprovision and cannot be implemented safely or without causing conflict
with other improvements along this road.
5.11

The previously refused scheme (P17/V2002/FUL) for the removal of bus stops
received 2 letters of objection from local bus providers. This application has
had no comments made from either party. The bus providers, in discussion
with OCC, understand that bus stops and local bus provision will be placed
along this stretch of the A417 as per the strategic approach to development
and no comments have been made to this effect. All providers who previously
made representations on P17/V2002/FUL were consulted.

5.12

Paul Yoward, Senior Highways Officer at OCC has considered the amended
plans including the details of the crossing type, the removal of the bus stops
and the PBA report submitted on behalf of East Hendred Parish Council. He
concludes that there are no highways objections to the scheme now proposed
for offsite highways works.

5.13

The Road Safety Audit has considered the crossing type, its location and the
location of bus stops in context along the A417 and safety audits levels 1, 2
and 3 fully consider the pedestrian route to the bus stops outside the Pye 1 and
2 developments is accessible in this location. Therefore, the context of the road
and the amendments to it have been fully considered.

5.14

Planning Officers have no evidence that the change in crossing type and
the removal of the bus stops would pose a safety risk to pedestrians of the Pye
3 development site. Nor is there evidence that pedestrians would use the north
side of A417 rather than walk the safer route using two crossings to access the
Pye 3 development. This is an assumed route.

5.15

The permitted crossing provides for safe access for pedestrians of the Pye 3
development to the village of East Hendred and onto bus stop provision outside
of the adjacent Pye 1 and 2 developments.

5.16

Officers therefore consider that the removal of the bus stops from the Pye 3
development obligation is justified. In a wider consideration of the strategic
network improvements taking into consideration the development in the area
comprehensively; there will be suitable bus stop provision to serve all
development sites following S106 obligations from the Greensands and Pye 2
developments. Safe and convenient bus stop infrastructure will therefore be
provided, in accordance with policy.

5.17

Other Issues
In discussions with the Parish Council they have queried why the site boundary
wall abutting Mather House with the pathway along A417 cannot be cut through

Page 81

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

and a shared surface route be provided through this site, taking it away from
the edge of the A417.
5.18

6.0
6.1

The Council understand that Mather House is under separate ownership and
therefore cannot request that this land is used to form an alternative route from
the Pye 3 development. An alternative route is not required because the
amendment of the crossing to a Puffin crossing with all safety audits in place
has ensured that users of this pathway and crossing do so in a safe manner in
accordance with planning policy.

CONCLUSION
In conclusion Officers recommend that approval is granted for the variation of
condition 8 of planning permission P15/V2560/FUL for the reasons outlined in
the report above and that the condition can now read:
“A scheme for all off-site highway works, to include a timetable for their
implementation, must be submitted to and agreed in writing by the local
planning authority. The submitted scheme shall include the creation of a Puffin
Type pedestrian crossing (and associated works), a shared footway/cycleway
on the north side of the A417 and a linking 2m wide footway only along the
south side of the A417 and improved pedestrian crossing facilities in the form of
tactile paving’s and dropped kerbs on White Road. The works shall be
undertaken in accordance with the approved drawings and the approved works
shall be implemented in full before the occupation of any dwelling hereby
approved.”
The following planning policies have been taken into account:
Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1 Policies:
CP01
CP02
CP03
CP04
CP05
CP07
CP15
CP22
CP23
CP24
CP33
CP35
CP36
CP37
CP38
CP39
CP42
CP43
CP44
CP45

-

Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Cooperation on Unmet Housing Need for Oxfordshire
Settlement Hierarchy
Meeting Our Housing Needs
Housing Supply Ring-Fence
Providing Supporting Infrastructure and Services
Spatial Strategy for South East Vale Sub-Area
Housing Mix
Housing Density
Affordable Housing
Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility
Promoting Public Transport, Cycling and Walking
Electronic communications
Design and Local Distinctiveness
Design Strategies for Strategic and Major Development Sites
The Historic Environment
Flood Risk
Natural Resources
Landscape
Green Infrastructure

Page 82

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

CP46 - Conservation and Improvement of Biodiversity
Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011 Saved Policies
DC5 – Access
Emerging Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2
A publication draft of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2 has been
subject to public consultation, and will be examined in the summer. Until
completion of examination, this Local Plan remains at an early stage of
preparation and accordingly its policies have limited weight at present.
Notwithstanding, the following policies are material to the consideration of this
application:
DP16 – Access
Adopted guidance
 Vale of White Horse Design Guide SPD – March 2015
 Developer Contributions, Delivering Infrastructure to Support
Development – June 2017
Neighbourhood Plan
There is currently no neighbourhood plan for East Hendred.
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010
Provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998
Author: Charlotte Brewerton
Tel: 01235 422600
Email: planning@whitehorsedc.gov.uk

Page 83

DISCLAIMER NOTES:
93.78

Appendix 1

93.67

· THIS DOCUMENT IS COPYRIGHT OF THE ORIGINATOR AND MUST BE TREATED AS
CONFIDENTIAL

· THIS DOCUMENT MUST NOT BE ALTERED, REPRODUCED OR DISTRIBUTED WITHOUT
PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF THE ORIGINATOR

· THIS DOCUMENT MUST NOT BE ALTERED - THE ORIGINATOR ACCEPTS NO RESPONSIBILITY
FOR ANY DISCREPANCIES ARISING AS A RESULT OF THE ORIGINATORS INFORMATION
BEING ALTERED BY OTHERS
· ANY DISCREPANCY MUST BE REPORTED TO THE ORIGINATOR
· DO NOT SCALE THIS DOCUMENT - USE FIGURED DIMENSIONS ONLY
· ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF ANY RELATED
WORKS
· THIS DOCUMENT MUST BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH ALL SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS
PRODUCED BY THE ORIGINATOR AND OTHER PROJECT DISCIPLINES
· THE ORIGINATOR ACCEPTS NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ACCURACY OF BACKGROUND
INFORMATION PRODUCED BY THIRD PARTIES - THIS MUST BE TREATED AS INDICATIVE
ONLY
· USERS OF THIS DOCUMENT ARE RESPONSIBLE FOR CHECKING WHICH REVISION IS
CURRENT
· THE DOCUMENT STATUS "INFORMATION" OR "PRELIMINARY", INDICATES THAT THIS
DRAWING IS FOR REFERENCE PURPOSES ONLY - THE ORIGINATOR WILL ACCEPT NO
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE COMPLETENESS OF INFORMATION UNDER THIS STATUS
· THE DOCUMENT STATUS "RECORD" OR "AS BUILT" HAS BEEN PREPARED, IN PART, BASED
UPON INFORMATION FURNISHED BY OTHERS. WHILE THIS INFORMATION IS BELIEVED TO BE
RELIABLE, THE ORIGINATOR ASSUMES NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ACCURACY OF THIS
"RECORD" OR "AS BUILT" DOCUMENT OR FOR ANY ERRORS OR OMISSIONS THAT MAY HAVE
BEEN INCORPORATED INTO IT AS A RESULT OF INCORRECT INFORMATION PROVIDED TO
THE ORIGINATOR. THOSE RELYING ON THE "RECORD" OR "AS BUILT" DOCUMENT ARE
ADVISED TO OBTAIN INDEPENDENT VERIFICATION OF ITS ACCURACY

93.75
93.65

Refer to drawing
4229-GDL-XX-D-DR-C-007 for pumping
station compound and access road

1080N

94.03
93.96

93.72

Landscape Buffer

93.69

93.78

93.78

93.72

EF

93.26

93.52

CDM REGULATIONS 2015
SIGNIFICANT OR NON-OBVIOUS RISKS AND RISKS WHICH ARE DIFFICULT TO
MANAGE ARE IDENTIFIED ON THIS DRAWING USING THE FOLLOWING SYMBOL
IDENTIFIED TO THE RIGHT WITH BRIEF ACCOMPANYING TEXT. FOR FURTHER
DETAILS OF THE RISKS IDENTIFIED BY DESIGNERS, REFERENCE SHOULD BE MADE
TO CDM HAZARD REGISTER.

93.08

93.40
94.09

DRAWING NOTES:

EF

93.67

EF

92.94

94.07

92.88

92.87
92.65

92.27
91.89

EF

91.82

EF

91.83

KERBING KEY
93.85
93.84

1060N
94.16

HB2 - 125x255 HB2 full face kerb
BN - 125x150 BN kerb 50mm face
DK - 125x150 BN dropped kerb
EF - 50x150 EF edging laid flush
T - Transition kerb as required
CS - square edged channel block

EF

93.80

EF

EF

ST20
94.214

93.70

EF

EF

93.94

94.16

93.55

EF

EF

93.47

93.21

93.33

94.25

93.04

93.13

92.92

FINISHES KEY

EF

EF

92.78

92.52

P29

92.25

DK

BN
94.16

EF
EF

93.81

93.68

93.78
94.23

94.25

94.05

94.30
94.29

94.27

P17

94.20
94.28 94.20
94.28
94.20

93.54

P18

94.04

P19

EF

EF

EF

93.24

EF

EF

93.10

cps 1

93.94

9 cps
19
cps 1
9 cps
19
BN

1040N
96.93

CS
BN

93.83 BN

BN

cps 17

94.34

cps 17

94.00
94.34
94.15

cps 16

cps 16

cps 16

cps 16

94.31

96.12

0 cp BN
s 20
cps 2
0 cp
sBN20

cps 27

EF

93.13

ST21
93.18

92.99

BN

P27

92.92

EF

92.82

BN

92.59

P20

MB

EF

CS

DK
93.63

MB

EF
BN
EF

CS

HB2

EF

94.30

EF

EF

BN

93.49

93.13

93.32

92.97

BN

V

93.47

T

HB2

MB

V

1000N

T

HB2

T

HB2

EF

MB

EF

P15

93.83

EF

V

EF

93.73

HB2

T

93.59

MB

HB2

EF

EF
EF
MB

EF

EF
92.92

MB

94.10
94.09

93.85

94.04
94.01
94.02
94.01
94.03
94.00
94.01
94.02

94.00
93.97

94.03

94.00
94.01

BN

MB

HB2
BN

BN

P4

93.52

BN
BN

960N

T3

cps 2

93.55

93.60

cps 4

94.08

cps 1BN

96.67

BN

P6

P5

BN

93.46
93.56
93.53

T5

93.93

93.92

93.78

102.57

4

1

93.93

102.15

93.89

96.85

T7

95.72

Portway
Cottages

93.68

93.73

93.66

93.65

93.67
93.58

93.64
93.60
93.76
93.92
93.61
93.52 93.61
93.60
93.79
93.55
93.56
93.51
93.60
93.51
93.51

93.59
93.72
93.64

93.52

93.54
93.59
93.57
93.55
93.55
93.59
93.46
93.45
93.56
93.42
93.40
93.42

93.42

93.46
93.47

93.79
93.59 93.66

93.79

93.42
93.40

MB
HB2

T

93.76

T

93.79

93.59

93.59

EF

EF

EF

A

B

93.68

93.60

93.62

93.70

93.65

93.72

93.71

T

93.67

93.65

93.71

ST22
93.663

T

D
A
O
R
ING

READ
93.66

93.58

93.64

93.67

93.65

93.59

93.90

93.92

93.61

93.67

93.76

93.64

93.66

93.64

93.65

93.63

93.60

93.59

93.57
93.72

93.88

93.57

93.79

93.60

93.57
93.74

93.77

93.55

93.58

93.58

93.61

93.56
93.52

93.81

93.54
93.66

93.56

93.82

93.60

93.63

93.72
93.64
93.94

93.67

ST05
93.547

93.64

IC (TL)

Virgin

93.40 93.42

93.65

93.36

93.62

93.58

93.66
93.63
93.79
93.57

93.70

IN ASSOCIATION WITH:

93.60

T

T

T

T
93.56
93.73

93.51
93.66

93.58

93.69
93.74

EF

93.66

PROJECT:

93.61

EF

Land to the East of
Portway Cottages
East Hendred

920N

93.22

93
.2
8

92.99

92.95
T
93.03
92.93
92.92

93.12

93.14
93.14

93.27

2.00

93.14

93.03

93.08
93.11

93.00
T

93.05
93.03 92.90
93.03

T

N

CS

CS

93.05
93.09

93.08

93.15

Surface Finishes

93.29
93.04

93.12

93.27

TITLE:

93.12

93.32

93.23

93.45

93.40
93.36
93.21
93.32

93.10

93.40

93.29

93.48

EF

93.20

93.42 93.39
93.26
93.44

93.44

93.43 93.45

ENG:

CSE: PR

ICSE:

INITIAL ISSUE:

SW

EF

SCALE: 1:250

@ A0
14/09/2017

92.97

STATUS:

T

PRELIMINARY

92.84
900N
95.26

98.22

95.26

30

WWW.RIDGE.CO.UK

CLIENT:

93.65 93.46

93.65
93.53

ST03
93.505

93.70

93.17

93.27

93.55

93.63

93.70
93.73

93.38
93.33

01993 815000

93.51

IC93.43
(TL)

93.35
93.37
93.43

TEL:

THE COWYARDS
BLENHEIM PARK
OXFORD ROAD
WOODSTOCK, OX20 1QR

93.91

93.62

93.41

2.00

BT

93.55

DRAWN

93.74

93.82

93.74

93.52

93.54

93.47

93.65

93.60

93.63

93.62

93.57

93.64

BT

DATE

RIDGE

93.61

93.61

93.65

93.59

PR

93.57

93.64
93.62

DESCRIPTION

19/09/2017

ORIGINATOR:

93.66

93.60

93.62

93.70

TACTILE PAVING DETAIL AMENDED AS PER OCC
COMMENTS

REV

M

MB
HB2
93.62

EF
93.29

93.68

93.71

CS

93.35

HB2

93.41

93.45

93.44

93.27

93.65

93.53

93.41

93.41 IC
93.41
93.38

93.85

EF

93.71

T

93.47

93.50
HB2

93.39

T

CS

93.77

93.53

93.50

93.44

93.71

93.53

93.39

EF

93.44

EF

93.68

93.71

93.60
93.80

93.42

93.48

EF
93.45

93.54

EF

93.12

93.37

EF

93.94

Virgin

93.53

93.58
93.58

93.64

93.77

93.56

93.70

93.76

93.42

CS

EF

EF

93.84

93.58

93.38

93.67

EF

93.68

93.69
93.75
93.74
93.49
93.52
93.49
93.69
93.49
93.68
93.47
93.44
93.42
93.41
93.42
93.42

EF

93.36

CS

93.46

93.81

93.85

T9

93.63

EF
EF

93.31

T

T

EF

93.75

B
MB M

93.58
EF

93.47
93.75
93.63
93.78
93.4493.47

EF

93.75

T11

T8

EF

T

EF

MB

EF EF

EF

93.57

93.48

T10

93.81
93.69

EF

93.66

95.75

93.85
93.85
93.84
93.84
93.85
93.82
93.83
93.81

93.68

93.55
93.51
93.55

EF

93.66

940N

93.23

EF

EF

HB2

T

93.55

97.70

98.28

HB2

93.54

EF

EF

EF

93.63

EF
93.87

Lynwood

MB

EF

93.82

98.80

EF EF

EF

EF

EF

100.77

102.15

102.12

102.62

EF

P39

P37

92.97

EF

EF

93.66

P3

P2

P1

T6

EF

93.52

93.52

98.30

93.89

98.83

CS

MB

93.92

93.97

EF

B

93.99

92.85

BN

BN

93.47

BN
T HB2

P38

EF

V

cps 5
T

93.06

P40

93.10

93.24

P36

92.82

EF

93.01
93.07

EF

MB

93.96

cps 4

T4

cps 3

93.93

cps 2

93.99
94.05
94.00 94.03

EF

cps 7
cps 6

EF

94.12

93.93

EF

HB2

EF
DK

EF 92.89

cps 38

93.97

93.13

92.89

BN

cps 8

93.54

CS

BN

HB2

P35

EF

MB

BN

cps 37

HB2

P7

92.82

CS

cps 39

cps 1

cps 3

94.13

cps 9

EF

P9

P8

93.01

92.91

V

P10

EF

HB2

BN

cps 40

94.11

cps 10

92.94

EF

vBN

BN
94.01
94.01
94.02
94.01
94.02
94.03
94.02

93.10

P31

92.88

HB2

P41

EF

93.04

93.38

T

BN

EF

93.48

CS

BN
BN

EF

93.59

EF

cps 11

93.96

94.04

94.15

BN

CS

cps 11

94.07

HB2

BN

P33 P32

CS

CS

93.00

EF

cps 45
cps 46

DK

MB

93.62

P42

P34

T

T

EF

MB

94.03

BN

EF

EF

EF

EF

94.00

94.02
94.07

93.69

EF

EF

cps 44

92.76

HB2

EF

EF

cps 43

M

94.24
94.10

M
B
93.70

P13

T

HB2

BN
T

92.84

MB

980N

EF

CS

EF

VHB2

V

EF

T
EF

HB2

Location of highway marker blocks

92.83

T

MB

94.19

94.02

cps 13 cps 13

cps 12 cps 12

94.18

EF

HB2

MB

EF

cps 41

EF

43-46

Corduroy Paving

EF

EF

V

cps 42

P12

T

Buff Tactile Paving (Uncontrolled Crossing)
EF

EF

HB2

92.97

EF

EF

Site boundary

DK

93.10

Red Tactile Paving (Controlled Crossing)

EF

EFB
M

cps 36

P14

660E

640E

94.15

V

93.36

EF

92.77

EF

EF

EF

Bodpave porous plastic paving grid system or
similar

92.62

cps 35

P11

93.90

94.07

93.49

CS

cps 31

92.59

EF

EF

T

93.92
94.13

BN

T

CS

T

94.26
93.98

92.70

EF

EF

CS

T

CS T

T

cps 32

BN

V
HB2

MB

BN

EF

EF

BN

Private Paving Slabs (Refer To Landscape
Architect For Construction Details)

cps 33

HB2

EF

EF

MB

BN

BN

BN

EF

MB

Page 84

93.87

BN

EF

94.26

94.23

CS

MB
92.97

EF

EF

94.15

EF

EF

CS

HB2

MB

EF

93.08

MB

EF

cps 24

T

cp
s 14

cp
s 14

EF

MB

94.22

V

EF
CS

EF

94.09

EF

93.26

94.16

93.98

HB2

cps 25 cps 25

V

CS
T

EF
93.93

MB

cps 26 cps 26

93.66

DK

c

94.31

T

CS

M

s 23
cps 23 cp

T

CS

EF

B

EF

cps 34

HB2

MB

cps 24

MB

94.24

93.73

MB

15

EF

B

ps

EF

EF

High PSV Surfacing (Min 65 PSV)

MB

P24

P23

BN

M

P16

EF

BN

BN

CS

BN

MB

680E

660E

640E

EF

c

EF

CS

CS

EF

93.81

HB2

T

CS

15

ps

93.88

T2 94.05

MB

CS

94.26

1000N

EF

EF

B

MB

BN

M

MB

MB

MB

94.36

94.17

Existing Adoptable Carriageway To
Be Broken Out & Topsoil / Seeded

MB
92.75 EF

BN

94.33

94.18

92.62

BN

MB

P26

P25

MB

HB2

93.99

T1

BN

BN

BN

MB

EF

94.29

Private Hogging Footway (Refer To Landscape
Architect For Construction Details)

EF
92.70

P22

BN

Private Bituminous Access Track Construction

P30

EF

EF

93.04

93.94

Private Bituminous Footway Construction with
chips rolled in to the surface (Refer To
Landscape Architect For Construction Details)

cps 30

BN

92.68

94.37

93.86

92.45

cps 22

93.39

EF

1020N

94.17

Private Permeable Paving Road.

92.32

93.39

93.73

93.92

cps 30

BN
93.99

95.83

cps 22

92.46

BN

BN

93.88

cps 27

BN

cps 2

BN

BN

CS

cps 21

Adoptable Rumble Strip

92.60

BN

cps 21

EF

EF

BN

V

Adoptable Bituminous Footway/
Cycleway/ Vehicle Crossover

BN

92.73

93.58

BN

94.02

94.33

93.68

93.82

cps 17

cps 17

96.61

cps 29

MB

94.33

94.15

s 18
cps 18 cp
ps 18
BN c
cps 18

97.60

BN

MB

94.28

93.89
96.47

cps 28

BN

CS

CS

94.36

cps 29

92.94

96.40

94.34

cps 28

92.93

BN

96.92

94.29

BN

93.35

EF

94.02

94.26

92.12

BN

P28

P21

EF

MB

ST04
94.200

93.90

MB

Future footpath link

BCP

93.90
93.94

BN

Adoptable Bituminous Road/
Carriageway Widening

92.13

Mather House

2

0

2

SCALE 1:250

4

6

8

10
m

DRAWING No:
PROJECT:

ORG:

ZONE:

LEVEL:

TYPE:

5004515 RDG XX ST PL

ROLE:

NUMBER:

REV:

C 0700 A

Appendix 2

OXFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
TECHNICAL AUDIT CERTIFICATE
SCHEME: Reading Road, East Hendred
CONSULTANT: Gemma Design

DEVELOPER: Pye Homes
DRAWINGS AUDITED
 4229-GDL-XX-HW-DR-C-004 Street Lighting, Road Signs
and Road Markings Sheet 1
 4229-GDL-XX-HW-DR-C-007 Street Lighting, Road Signs
and Road Markings Sheet 2
 4229-GDL-XX-HW-DR-C-018 Section S278 Legal Plan
 4229-GDL-XX-HW-DR-C-031 Adoptable Road Construction
Details Sheet 1
 4229-GDL-XX-HW-DR-C-032 Adoptable Road Construction
Details Sheet 2

Certificate Number: 557
Date: 05.06.17
Circulation
Developers
Consultant
File 10.2.199.7

Page 85

Appendix 3

Page 86

Page 87

Agenda Item 10
Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

APPLICATION NO.
SITE
PARISH
PROPOSAL
WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
OFFICER

P18/V0847/HH
36 Aldworth Avenue, Wantage, OX12 7EJ
Wantage
Proposed first floor side extension (as amended
by plans received on the 23rd of May 2018).
Charlotte Dickson
St John Dickson
Mrs Amanda Harper
Nathaniel Bamsey

RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that planning permission is granted subject to the
following conditions:
Standard conditions:
1. Commencement within three years.
2. Development to be built accordance with approved plans.
Compliance conditions:
3. Materials in accordance with approved form and drawings.
1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL

1.2

The application site is in a well-established residential area in the north east of the
town of Wantage. On the site is a detached two storey dwelling with two single storey
extensions, a pitched roof extension to the side and a flat roofed extension to the
rear. Neighbouring properties are located to the north (no.38) and south (no.34) of the
application site. Both neighbours are also detached dwellings. The building line of the
properties is staggered so the line of the main rear wall of the northern neighbour at
no.38 is on a similar line to the front of the application dwelling. Vehicular access to
the site is gained via Aldworth Avenue.

1.3

This application seeks approval for the erection of a first-floor side extension and for
the replacement of the flat roof on the rear extension with a mono-pitched roof. The
first floor extension will be constructed above the existing pitched roof side extension.
The development will provide an en-suite bathroom for an existing first floor bedroom.
The extension will be constructed with a hipped roof and will have a depth of 3.4
metres, a width of 2.9 metres and a ridge height of 6.2 metres. The height to the
eaves will be 4.7 metres, which matches that on the original dwelling. The front
elevation of the extension will be in line with the front elevation of the first floor of the
dwelling. The pitched roof on the rear extension will increase the ridge height from 2.8
metres to 3.6 metres alongside the original dwelling and 3.2 metres along the rest of
its length.

1.4

The brickwork and roof tiles of the extension will match those of the existing dwelling.
The new pitched roof will use Marley-Eternit slate tiles. A UPVC first floor window will

This application is referred to committee at the request of the ward member,
Councillor St. John Dickson.

Page 88

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

be inserted on the front elevation of the extension, matching those on the existing
dwelling.

1.5

A site location plan is provided below and the application plans are attached
at Appendix 1.

2.0
2.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
A summary of comments is provided below. Comments can be seen in full at
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk.
Wantage Town Council

Objection
 Overbearing
 Unneighbourly

Neighbour object (1)

One objection has been received from a
neighbouring property (No.38). The
concerns raised can be summarised as:

Page 89

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

Objection
 Too large
 Unneighbourly
 Ugly
 Overwhelms the garden
 Loss of light

3.0
3.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
P90/V6890 - Approved (20/02/1991)
Erection of single storey extension to side and rear of existing dwelling.
P78/V0191 - Approved (24/01/1979)
New porch to replace existing.

3.2

Pre-application History
None.

4.0
4.1

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.0
5.1

MAIN ISSUES

Householder development does not fall within the defined scope for potential
EIA development.

The main issues when considering this application are:

1. Design, layout and visual amenity
2. Residential amenity
3. Traffic, parking and highway safety
5.2

Design, layout and visual amenity
The extension is considered to be a modest and subservient addition to the to the
existing dwelling. The ridge height will be approximately 1m lower than that on the
main dwelling, in line with the Design Guide. This, together with the staggered
relationship between no.36 and no.38 ensures that there is no terracing effect arising
from the development.

5.3

The front of the house includes a ground floor projection, so that the ground floor front
wall lies approximately 1.5m forward of the upper wall. In the original plans the “front”
wall of the extension was in line with the ground floor of the house, but forward of the
upper wall. Amended plans improved the appearance of the extension by lining the
front wall with the upper front wall of the house, creating a more uniform appearance
that is in-keeping with the character of the dwelling.

5.4

The replacement of the flat roof on the rear extension with a pitched roof is considered
to improve the appearance of the existing extension. The use of slate style tiles that
differ from those on the main dwelling is considered acceptable as they will not be
visible from any public vantage points.

Page 90

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

5.5

Residential Amenity
The original proposal, built up from the front elevation of the garage, was designed in
order to comply with the ’40-degree rule’ from the Design Guide. The ’40-degree rule’
states that two storey extensions should not encroach beyond a 40 degree line taken
from the edge of the nearest ground or first ﬂoor window of a habitable room of a
neighbouring property. It was felt that, due to no.38 being much further forward than
no.36 this design would have led to a loss of light to no.38’s garden in the
afternoon/evening.

5.6

Amendments pushed the extension back to be level with the upper front wall of the
house and introduced a hipped roof. It is considered that this has reduced the potential
harm from loss of light as it maintains a gap between the two properties and the low
ridge height will mean significant loss of light is not caused.

5.7

The amendments will mean that the extension would now contravene the ’40-degree
rule’. It is considered that this is less harmful in this case due to the relative positions
of the houses which means that the majority of the original dwelling already
contravenes this rule, albeit at an increased distance. 1.6 metres of the extension
would exceed the 40 degrees this rule at a distance of 4 metres from the nearest first
floor window of No 38. It is considered that the visual impact will not cause harm due
to the distance to the extension from the window, the fact it is a small part of the
extension that is in contravention of the rule, and the presence of the existing house in
the current outlook.

5.8

The short length of the extension coupled with its subservient height and hipped roof
design means that the development will not over dominate neighbouring properties.
There will be no overlooking from the development as the new first floor window faces
towards the highway, away from neighbouring properties. The proposed mono-pitch
roof to the rear of the first floor proposal will not cause harm through loss of light or
dominance as it will result in a very small increase in height.

5.9

Traffic, parking and highway safety
The development does not change the number of bedrooms nor affect the current
parking arrangements so there will be no harm to highway safety.

5.10

CIL
The proposed development results in less than 100m2 of new floorspace so is not liable
for the Community Infrastructure Levy.

6.0
6.1

CONCLUSION
It is concluded that the proposal is acceptable in terms of its design and its
impacts on highway safety. The impacts on residential amenity are not
considered to be significantly harmful so as to be unacceptable. The proposal is
therefore considered to accord with the relevant policies of the development
plan and with the National Planning Policy Framework.
The following planning policies and planning guidance have been taken into account:
Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031, Part 1 Policies;
CP37 - Design and Local Distinctiveness

Page 91

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011 Policies;
DC5 - Access
DC9 - The Impact of Development on Neighbouring Uses
National Planning Policy Framework
Planning Practice Guidance (March 2014)
Design Guide (SPD adopted March 2015)
Equality Act 2010
The proposal has been assessed against section 149 of the Equality Act. It is
considered that no recognised group will suffer discrimination as a result of the
proposal.
Human Rights Act 1998
The proposal has been assessed in the context of Articles 1 and 8 of the Human Rights
Act. The impact on individuals has been weighed in the balance against the public
interest and it is considered that the recommendation is proportionate.
Author: Nathaniel Bamsey
Email: planning@whitehorsedc.gov.uk
Telephone: 01235 422600

Page 92

Appendix 1

Page 93

Page 94

Page 95

Agenda Item 11
Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

APPLICATION NO.
SITE
PARISH
PROPOSAL

WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
OFFICER

P18/V1049/HH
Corbiere, Springfield Road, Wantage,
Oxfordshire, OX12 8EX
Wantage
First floor extension to existing bungalow.
Single storey extension to the front and rear.
Remodelling of floor area. Demolish existing
garage and conservatory areas.
Charlotte Dickson
St John Dickson
Joseph Chalmers
Josh Sharp

RECOMMENDATION
To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:
Standard:
1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Approved plans.
Prior to occupation:
3. Access and parking laid out in accordance with details previously
approved
Compliance:
4. Garage to be retained for parking
1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL

1.2

The proposal has been amended during the application process from, originally,
the conversion from the existing single storey bungalow to a two storey house,
to what is now the conversion to a 1 ½ storey property. The proposal aims to
raise the roof height by 1.1m, compared to the existing, by raising both the
eaves and ridge heights. The existing angle of the roof pitch will be retained.
The proposal seeks to add a single storey, dual pitch extension to the front
elevation for the provision of an integral garage, and a single-storey flat roof
rear-extension, spanning the rear elevation, to form a kitchen and dining area.
The number of bedrooms will remain unchanged at 3. A site location plan is
below and extracts from the application plans are attached at Appendix 1.

This application comes to the committee at the request of the local councillor,
St John Dickson. Corbiere, a detached bungalow, is located within a residential
development, on Springfield Road, to the south of Wantage. The locality is
characterised by a varied array of dwelling types and plot sizes with staggered
building lines a common theme. Neighbouring properties to Corbiere are
located to the east, Redruthan, a detached two-storey dwelling, and to the
west, Tenga, a 1½ storey bungalow. Highway access is gained to Springfield
Road via an off-street driveway with a detached garage on-site.

Page 96

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

2.0
2.1

3.0

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
The below is a summary of representations, which can be seen in full at
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk
Wantage Town Council



Object to the application on the grounds
of over development, over bearing
nature, it is un-neighbourly and not in
keeping with the street scene

Neighbours – 2
neighbouring households
have objected on the
following grounds:







Overlooking
Overshadowing and loss of light
Contrary to 40-degree rule
Not in keeping with street scene
Loss of property value (this is not a
material planning consideration)

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
P83/V0097/O - Approved (18/01/1984)
Erection of a dwelling house and garage. (Site area 0.13 hects).

4.0
4.1

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
The development is not one that requires an EIA

Page 97

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

5.0
5.1

MAIN ISSUES

5.2

The Impact on Neighbours
The current relevant adopted development plan policy (Policy DC9 of the Local
Plan 2011) sets out the following parameters: Development will not be
permitted if it would unacceptably harm the amenities of neighbouring
properties and the wider environment in terms of: i) loss of privacy, daylight or
sunlight; ii) dominance or visual intrusion iii) noise or vibration iv) smell, dust,
heat, gases, v) pollution, contamination vi) external lighting. The parameters
relevant to this application are the potential loss of privacy through any
overlooking the development will cause, any loss of daylight caused by the
raised roof height of the development, and any damage the development will
cause to neighbours’ outlook through visual intrusion.

5.3

Officers consider the impact on neighbours has been mitigated through the
amendments made to the plans. Corbiere benefits from being set back from the
building line compared to neighbouring properties. Therefore, although Tenga
has two dormer windows that face the site, the proposed raising of the roof is
not in direct view from these side dormers. Officers have carefully assessed the
impact and consider that any overshadowing will only occur in the early
morning. This impact will leave adequate light provision for Tenga’s side
dormer windows, and the net loss of light caused by the raising of the roof will
not be harmful enough to warrant refusal.

5.4

Moreover, the proposed demolition of the detached garage at the front of the
site is likely to improve the outlook from Tenga as it is currently in close
proximity to the boundary. Officers consider the cumulative effect of the
development will result in an over-all improvement to outlook and light for this
neighbour.

5.5

There are no habitable room windows in the flank wall of Redruthen for which
the proposed development can potentially cause any loss of light. The
neighbour at Redruthen is concerned that the proposal will breach the 40degree rule from rear-facing windows. However, as explained in Design Guide
principle DG104, the 40-degree rule applies to proposals for full-height two
storey extensions, whereas the proposal in this case is for a 1 ½ storey
building. Consequently, the 40-degree rule does not apply and the impact from
loss of light is considered to be acceptable. The lack of side facing windows in
the proposal means there will not be any harmful over-looking to affect
neighbouring amenity.

5.6

The proposal has been designed with privacy for the property and neighbours
in mind. As the only windows proposed which will cause potential overlooking
of neighbouring properties are the rear dormers, overlooking will only take
place into the rear curtilage of neighbouring properties, and at an angle. This is
not deemed harmful enough to contravene policy DC9. The rear dormer
windows also benefit from permitted development fall-back.

Officers consider the main issues to be as follows:  The impact on neighbours
 The impact of the development on the area
 Parking

Page 98

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

5.7

The Impact of the Development on the Area
The relevant policy to assess the proposals effect to the street scene is policy
CP37 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1. The main considerations relevant to the
application within this policy include that the development… i) responds
positively to the site and its surroundings, cultural diversity and history,
conserves and enhances historic character and reinforces local identity or
establishes a distinct identity whilst not preventing innovative responses to
context: and viii) is visually attractive and the scale, height, density, grain,
massing, type, details and materials are appropriate for the site and
surrounding area

5.8

Officers consider there is sufficient screening provided by existing boundary
vegetation to prevent any harmful effect on neighbours’ outlook. As Corbiere is
situated between a two-storey house; Redruthen, and a 1 ½ storey bungalow in
Tenga, the raised roof height will still allow the development to integrate from a
visual perspective, and will not cause the property to appear dominating. This
factor, combined with the staggered building line which results in Corbiere
being set-back, allows the addition to appear less disruptive to the street
scene, with a relatively moderate impact on the area.

5.9

The proposed extension to the front elevation incorporating the car port is
considered to be acceptable. As principles DG47 and DG107 of the design
guide describe, front extensions will be viewed positively if they remain singlestorey with a pitched roof. As the front elevation of Corbiere is set back from
the street, the extension will have less of an obtrusive visual effect on the street
scene. The removal of the existing detached garage at the front means the net
additional development will be relatively modest and will not detract from the
existing character of the street scene.

5.10

The roof is to be raised by 1.1m compared to the existing height, which officers
consider to be acceptable. As the proposal will change a single storey
bungalow to a 1 ½ storey bungalow, it is considered the proposals do not harm
the character of the original property. Instead the alterations allow the roof
space to be incorporated into practical living space, matching other properties
in the locality. The proposed rear dormers are discrete from the street and also
benefit from permitted development fall back.

5.11

Parking
The proposal will replace the existing detached garage on the west side of the
plot with a new integral garage on the east side. The proposed garage meets
the adopted standard (6m x 3m) in terms of its size. As the number of
bedrooms is unchanged, at 3, the provision of two parking spaces is
considered to be acceptable. Officers recommend conditions for details of
access and parking, and to retain the garage for use for parking.

5.12

Community Infrastructure Levy Liability
The council’s CIL charging schedule has recently been adopted and will apply
to relevant proposals from 1st November 2017. CIL is a planning charge that
local authorities can implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the
development of their area, and is primarily calculated on the increase in

Page 99

Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 1 August 2018

footprint created as a result of the development or net gain of residential use on
site. This development would not be liable to pay CIL since the net internal
increase in floor space does not exceed 100 square metres.
6.0
6.1

CONCLUSION
The development is not considered to be inappropriate development in
Springfield Road and does not have a detrimental visual impact to the street
scene. The proposal is not deemed to have sufficient impact on the amenities
of neighbouring properties to warrant refusal.
The following planning policies have been taken into account:
Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1 policies:
CP37 – Design and local distinctiveness
Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011 policies:
DC5 - Access
DC9 – Impact on neighbouring amenities
Design Guide (SPD Adopted March 2015), guidance:
DG27- Urban Structure
DG47 – On-plot parking
DG64 – Privacy
DG104 – Consider your neighbours
DG107- Front extensions
National Planning Policy Framework, 2012
Paragraph 14: “The presumption in favour of sustainable development: For
decision-taking this means approving development proposals that accord with
the development plan without delay”
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015
Class B of Part 1 of Schedule 2
Equalities Act, 2010
In assessing the proposal officers have paid due regard to the local planning
authority’s duties under section 149 of the Equalities Act. It is considered that
no identified group will suffer discrimination as a result of the proposal.
Human Rights Act 1998
Officers have assessed the proposal in the context of Articles 1 and 8 of the
Human Rights Act. The impact on individuals has been weighed in the balance
against the public interest, and officers consider the recommendation is
proportionate.

Author: Josh Sharp
Email: josh.sharp@southandvale.gov.uk
Telephone: 01235 422600

Page 100

Appendix 1

Page 101

Page 102

Page 103

Page 104

Page 105

Page 106

